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PART I _ GENERAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Business

Barksmund of Brcinest

Premiere Island Power REIT Corporation (the Company or PREII) was registeted with the Securities

and Exchange Commission (SEC) on 4 March 2A22, oiglnally under the name Premier Island Holding
Corporatioo, primarily to engage in invesment activiries as an investment holding company. On 9

November 2022, the SEC approved the change in name of the Company to its current name and the change

in its primary purpose to that of a real investment trust company. PREIT is a real estate investment trust

GEIT) hcorporated under the Philippine ReaI Estate Investment Trust Law (X.epublic Act No. 985(r)

listed urith the Philippine Stock Exchange PSE) on 15 December 2022. As of 31 December 2024, gtoss

leasabie area (GLA) of the property portfolio totaled to 30,666 sq. m.

PRIIIT has an authorized capital stock of P7,500,000,000.00 divided into 7,500,000,000 common shares

vrith a par value of P1.00 per share. As of 31 December 2024, 3,288,669,000 common shares of the
Company are issued and outstanding.

PREIT is envisioned to be the powet and infrastructure REIT platform of the PA\1I Group, consisting of
Ptime Asset Ventures, lnc. @AYI) and its subsidiaries, including S.I. P0wer Colporation and Camotes
Island Power Generation Corporation (the Sponsors), and aims to be among the leading powet and

infrastructure REITs in the Philippines in terms of portfolio, profitability, 1you.th, sustainability, and

dividcnd ytcld.

The principai investment mandate and strate15, of the C<lmpany is to invest on a long-term basis in critical
real estate and infrastructure that will not only expand its portfolio but will also enable the Company to
attain its objective of meaningfully contdbuting to the promotion of clean, renewable and sustainable

energy, as well as continue its ptogress on expanding social and missionary. electrification.

.l?on.rors

S.I. P0wer Corporation (SIPCOR) and Camotes Isiand Power Generation Corporation (CAMPCOR),
sponsors of the REIT, are corporations organized under the laws of the Philippines.

SIPCOR was incolporated in the Philippines and registered with the SEC in September 201 1. Its primary
purpose is to buy', acquire, lease, construct, maintain, and operate plants, u,ork systems, poles, pole wire,
conduit, ducts and subway for the ptoduction, supply, distribution and sale of electricity fot light and power
and any other use to which electdcity may be applied. Its power plant facilities currendy have an aLgregate

installed capaciry of 72,870 kW for the Candanay Sur gid and the Lazi grid in Siquiior. SIPCOR is a u,hoill-
owned subsidiary of PA\|I.

CAMPCOR was incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the StrC io September 2019. Is
primary purpose is to buy, acquire, lease, construcq mainain, and opetate plants, work systems, poles, pole
wires, conduits, ducts, and subways for the production, supply, distribution, and sale of electricity for light
and po$/er and any other use to which electricity may be applied. Its first power plant facilities have an

aggegatc installed capacity of 6,984 kW for the Camotes main ppid, and 1,280 kW for the Pilar grid, both
in the pr<-rvince of Cebu. CAMPCOR is the sole power provider frlr Pilar Island and Camotes Island.

The Sponsors of the Companv are constantly monitoring opportunities for the acquisition via purchase or
long-term lease of lands and other areas that may further be utilized for the development, constnrcdon,
operation, and maintenance of power generation facilities and which will eventually form part of the income
generating real estate ponfolio of the Company. The Company believes that its shareholders and affiliates'
land bank and their amay of expansion projects currentiy in the development pipeline pro-r'ide meaningful
andrcaliz.able opportunities for strategic growth and expansion and give strong investors str<-rng indications
of further revenue grovth in the near future.

a



f-ilnd hlanaser

PRL,ITs fund manager is VFund 1\{anagement, Inc. (formedy Communities Palawan, Ioc.) flFund or the

Fund Manager). It was incorporated on 8 November 2011 with the primar), pulpose of engaging in the
business of a real estate dealer afld all alike undertakings. The Fund Managet has an ll-yeat ttack record in
the development of real estate industr,v. The Fund Maoager is a wholly-owned subsidiarl' of Communities
Philippines, Inc. which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Vista Land & Lifescapes, Inc.

The Fund Manager's main responsibiliry is to manage the Company's assets and liabilities for the benefit
of our Shareholders, with a focus on investment yields and profitability matgins. Cwtendy, the Fund
Manager has the President, CFO and its Chief Audit Executive as its fuil-time employees, each of whom
have tack records and experience in financial management and the real estate industry of at least 10 years

prior to ioining the Fund Managet.

Undet the Fund Management Agreement, the Fund Manager will teceive an annual fund management fee

equivalent to 0.5% of the Company's Rental Income less straight-line adiustrnents, exdusive of value added

ta-\es.

In additi<-rn, the Fund Manager shall be entitled to receive from the Company an acquisition fee equivalent
to 0.5% of the acquisit-ion price, for every acquisition, exclusive of v-alue-added taxes. The Fund Managet
shall likewise be entided to receive a divestrnent fee of 0.5% of the sales ptice for every ptoperty divested,
exclusive of value-added taxes.

Protuiv hlanauer

PREIT's Property Manager is VProperty Managemeng Inc. (formedy LET Ventures, Inc.) flflProperty or
the Ptoperty Manager), which was incorporated on 6 August 2019. Its primary purpose is to engage in
the business of providing property management, lease management, marketing, project management, and

such other duties and functions rrecessary zrnd incidental to ptoperty management. The Ptoperry Manager
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Vista Residences, Inc., which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Vista
Land & Lifescapes, lnc.

As of 31 December 2024, the directots and executive officers of the Properry Manager have over 20 yearc

of accumulatcd experience in commercial real estate operations, lcasing, and property management.

Under the Properry lllanagement Agreement, the Properry lvlanaget will receive an annual management fee

equivalent to l.So/u of the Company's Annual Rental Income less straight-line adjustrnents, exclusive of
value added taxes, plrvided that the total of such fee (the "Propefty Management Fee") and the Fund
Management Fee shall not exceed 'l..}oh of the Net Asset Value of the properties being managed, as

pror,-ided under the rules of the REIT Law.

Con?etition

The Company's and its Lessees'main competition in the Philippine electricity matket are coal, oil and

natural gas electricirl generators as well as othet tenewable enetgy suppllers who use hydro, wind,
geothemal and solar PV technologies. The market price of commodities, such as natutal gas and coal, are

important drivers of energy pricing and competition in most energy markets, including in the Philippines.

In respect of the renewable energl' power industry, the Lessees' main competitors are WEnergy, One
Renes,ablc, Petroenerpry Rcsources Corporation, Solar Para Sa Bayan, InFunde Dcvclopment, and Pilipinas
Shell Foundation.

In respect of othet RLITs rvith a similar portfolio, the Company's main competitor is Citicote Energy
REIT Corp.

J



'I'ransactions With ard/ or De?endetrce on Rclated Parties

In the ordinary course o[the Company's business, it engages in a variety of transactions with related parties.
Pursuant to the REIT f-aw, the Company's related parties include the Sponsors, the Fund Manager, and
the Properqv Managet.

The Company's related party traosaction policy ensures that these transactions are entered into on terms,
which are oot more favorable to thc related party than those gencrally available to third parties dealing on
an arm's lcngth basis, and arc not dctrimcntal to unrelatcd sharcholdcrs. Ali rclated party transactions shall
be reviewed by the appr<-rpriate appr<.rving body, as determined by the Board, to ensure that the Company's
resources are not misappropriated or misapplied. for more information, see Audited Financial Statements,
Notc 15).

Pvsks Associated with the ComparyI Business

PREIT'I butiness and pmspeds an bealill dqmdent on the petfomance of tbe Philippine etoilorgl and the Pbilippine real
estate market. An1 downtarn in the general economic cond,itions in the Pltilippines or tbe Philippine rcal e$ate narket muld
baw a matrial aduerce impaet on PKE[I'.

The Properties are all located in the Philippines, particulady in Siquilor and Cebu. Any downturn in the
general economic conditions in the Philippines, in general, ot the Philippine real estate market, in particulat,
could have a mateial advetse impact on the Company.

Factors that have historically adversely affected and that may adversely affect the Philippine economy, or
the rcal cstatc markct include the following:

decteases in business, industial, manufacturing ot financial activity in the Philippines or the global
market;
decreases in the amount of remittances received ftom ovetseas Filipinos, including OFWs and
Filipino expatriates;

decreascs in or changes in consumption habits in the Philippines;
general demand and supply of ptoperties in the Philippines;
decreases in property values;

scarcity of ctedit or other financing, resulting in lower demand for products and sewices ptovided
by companies in the Philippines ot in the global markeq
the sovereign credit ratings of the Philippines;
exchange rate flucfuations;
a prolonged period of inflation or increase in interest tates;

changes in the Govemment's taxation policies;
nahual disasters, including typhoons, earthquakes, fires, floods and similar events;

political instability, terrorism, or military conflict in the Philippines, other countdes in the tegion,
or globally; and
other regulatorv, political, social, ot economic developments in or affecting the Philippines.

The Company believes this risk can be managed tkough the Company's strengths and strategies to ensure
competitiveness in the market. However, there is no assurance that the Company can provide an effective
mitigation to such risk

The Conpany's and its lesseet'htsinesser are expoud to tbe rbks inltercnt in the Pbibppinu energ narket.

The Company's business comprises the leasing or subleasing of the Properties to the Sponsors who operate
power plants on such properties. As such, the Compaoy's prospects and results of operations are highly
dependent on the success of the Phiiippine energy market as a whole.

Thete can be no assurance that the Philippine energy market will stabilize or continue to expand. Reduced

levels of economic growth, adverse changes in the country's political ot security conditions, or weaker

a
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performance of ot slowdown in indusuial activities may adversely affect ttre demand for, and pdce of,
cnergy gcncratcd by the Company's and its lcssecs' powct plants. In particular, thc global economic
downtum resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in an economic slorrdown and negative
business sentiment, which may continue to affect the <;utlook on the Philippine enerl;y market, which could
materially and advetsely affect our results of operations. Moreover, the Company cannot foresee when the
disruptions to industrial ot business activities caused by the outbreak of COVID-19 will cease.

The Company's lessces, as powff plant operators, are subject to risks inherent in the powet generation
industr,v, and thcrc is no assurance thc lcssccs will continue to bc able to support such guarantced payrncnts
in the future. The Company believes it can manage these risks through its land lease rental rates for its
Properties that are largely composed of g.r.r^.rt id base lease which'are independent of the operating
perfotmance of the relevant lessee's power plants. In addition, in line with its principal investment mandate
and strategy, the Company aims to be one of the key playem in the renewable energy industry. As such, the
Company believes that the "fitst or must" dispatch of renewable energy over conventional eoergy sources
such as coal ot diescl, and other Govemment initiatives to ptomote and encourage the growth of the
renewable enerry industry in the Philippines help manage the risk of a downturn in demand fot energy in
the Philippines. Furthermore, the Company and the Fund Manager take a prudent approach to financiai
management, rvhich indudes ciosely monitoting the Company's capital and cash positions and maintaining
discipline in the Company's capital commitments.

'l'be Gouernment mE anend, reaoke, redaa, or elimfuate sabidies and economic ircenth,esfor rencwabb enetg andNational
PowerCorporation-,\'nallPonerUtilitics Gmtp, which coild impaatbe?nfitabiliry of thepouerplants of tbe Compaqy\
I-esseet bcated on the ltased Pmperties or tlte Prupenics to be Acqdred.

Because the Propcrties and properties to be acquircd focus on energy-generating ptojects, the Company's
future profitability depends on the support of the Government for the renewable energJ' sector, including
the Governmeot's ability to increase FIT rates and expand the FIT system to new renewable energy
profects. Under Republic Act 9513 or the Renewable Energy Act of 2008, the National Renewable EnerES,

Board (I.{REB) is mandated to formulate and promulgate feed-in tariff system rules, which cover, among
others, the following:

Priority connections to the grid for electricity generated from emerging renewable energv resources
within the Philippines
Prioriry purchase and ffansmission of, and payment for, such electriciry by the gtid slstem
oPerators
Determine fixed tariff t<-r be paid t<.r qualified renewable energy

The revocation, reduction, modification or elimination of government mandates and economic incentives
could materially and adversely affect the growth of the renewable enetgf industry ot result in increased
price competition, either of which could cause the Company's revenues to decline and materially and
adversely affect the Company's results of operations.

Wh.ile the Company believes that renewable power proiects may continue to offer aruactive internal rates

of tetutn, any changes that reduce or eliminate subsidies may cause a decrease in demand and considerabie
downward pressure on market prices and the value of the Company's and its lessees'power plants and the
Company's Properties. The Company believes that it is able to manage the foregoing risks as the
development of new renewable energy technologies has and will continue to result in higher capacity factor
and lower capital expenditure for the development of renewable energy power ptojects and vrill reduce the
importance of Govemment incentives and subsidies in making renewable energy power projects attractive
and viable investments in the futue. However, there is no assurance that such technologies will continue
to be developed, or that the Company or its lessees will be able to take advantage of such technologies in
the future without having to incur significant capital expenditure or at all. Thc Company also believes that
any action by the Government to revoke any incentives will require a significant shift in policy, involving
both executive and legislative branches of the Govemment, afld extensive discussions with stakeholders in
the tenevrable energy industry and the Enancial sector.

a
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'l'be Conpary operates in a higb! corQetitiaeRljl'f market, and ary inabiliry tu e.fectiae! conrpete could linit the Conpary's

abili\ to maintain or increase ils narket share and maintain or inreate ?mrttubili\l.

The Company operates as a real estate investment trust, holding assets that operate in the power generation
industr,v. PREITs futute ppowth and dwelopmeot are dependent, in Iarge part, on the availability of land
and other assets suitable for acquisition, development, ot lease. Itmay become more difficult to fild suitable

propeties in locations and at prices acceptabie to the Companv. To the extent that the Company is unable

to grow its portfolio at acceptable prices, its gtowth prospects could be limited, and its business and results

ot opcrations could bc adverscly affcctcd.

Competition ftom other real estate developers and real estate service companies may also adversely affect
the Company's abiliq' ro grow its ponfolio. In addition, continued developmcnt by othcr market

participants could result in the saturation of the market.

The Company bclieves this risk can bc managcd thtough the Company's strengths and sttategies to cnsure

competitiveness in the matket. However, there is no assurance that the Company can provide an effective

mitigation to such risk

Ceftain pofiions of the land underfiing the SlPCOKPruperties are not onryed fu tbe Conpatry bil are instcad leasedfron

NPC. Any anendnent or tmzination of the hase agrcement co*ld afect tlte Compaty's operutiorc

Certain portions of the land undedying the SIPCOR Properties are leased by the Company ftom NPC. if
the land lease agreements of the Company are amended, terminated, or canceled, including as a result of
any of the market-standard events of default included in such agreements, the Company and its lessees

could facc a substantial disruption to their opcrations and such circumstances would havc a matctial adversc

effect on the Company's business, financial condiuon and results of operations, including on the Company's
ability to make distributions. Similari,v, the non-renewal of the lease agreements upon expiration thereof
may have a matetial adr-erse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, and tesults of
operations.

To manage these dsks, the Company intends to register its leases with the relevant land tegistries in the

Philippines to protect its rights against third parties. The Company believes it is also able to manage this

risk through contracrud remedies and safeguards in its contracts, which generally'includes a prohibition on
the NPC (as lessor) ftom assigning the lease without the consent of the Company (as lessee), and indudes

the explicit consent of NPC to thc regrstration of the lcasc. The Company has complied with its obligations

under the land lease agreements and has not caused any event of default. The Company and the Property
Manager shall also continue to actively monitor the Company's compliance with i.ts obligations under the

Company's land lease agreements to ensure that the Company does not trig4er an event of default which
could lead to the termioation of such land lease agreements.

The Company shail likewise ensure that the term of the lease agreements shall coincide with the term of
thc PSAs of SIPCOR. At this timc, SIPCOR has rwo PSAs (SIPCOR PSA 1, and SIPCOR PSA 2) and two
Iease agreements with NPC. Both lease agreements will expire in 2034, while one of the PSAs (Sf PCOR

PSA 2) has an end-terrn of 2040. To ensure that the tetms of the lease with NPC shall cover until the end

of the term of both SIPCOR PSAs, the Company has submitted a letter to NPC requesting fot extension
of the lease agreements to have an end-term of 2040, which is the same validity period of SIPCOR PSA 2.

The Company intends ro pursue firrthet discussions with NPC tegarding such proposed extension of the
term of lease agreements.

Cetain portiotts of the land mdcr$ing the.fIPCOR Pmperties are not oamed b1 tbe Conpary, and titlu or interest ouer

sscb land havd fot tfu Conpary ma1 be contested 11 tbirdpartiu.

Certain porions of the land undedying the SIPCOR Properties are not owned by the Company. If the
Company's operations are affected by any issues regarding such lands, the Company could be in breach of
its lease agreements with its lessees and may have to setde teparations with the affected parties. The
Company's entidement to rental payments may also be materially and adversely affected. Any of the

-6-



foregoing circumstances could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial

cond-r tion, and rcsults oF opcrations.

The lease agreemeots berween the Company as lessee and Natit;nal Power Corporation (lrIPC) as lessor,

"o.r., 
p*""i, of land (with an aggregate arca of 9,478 sq.m) that form part of the properties subleased to

SIPCOR. However, such parceli of iand that the Company subleases to SIPCOR has no tegistered tide in

the name NPC. The Comfany recognizes *rat NPC has no registeted tide in its narne over such leased area.

Undcr Philippinc Law, a land titlc issucd by thc Rcgister of Dceds shall bc dcemcd as conciusivc o$'nership

r.,ver a piece Lf t".ra against the whole world. Given that the NPC does oot have registered title over the

land it is currently leasing to the Compan,r,, which is, in rurn, subleased to SIPC()& the Company runs the

risk of the plot of land being subiect to any conflicting claim or ownership dispute, shouid another person

claim that he or she owns the land.

To managc thcse risks, the Company will continue to monitor the NPC's effons in pcrfecting its ownership

through registration with the Registration of Deeds of the property during the tetm of the agteement. The

Company Leterres it is also able to manage this risk through contractual remedies and safeguards in its
contr;cts, which includes NPC's waf,r^nty that it has been in exclusive and peacefirl Possession over the

same from the time of its acquisition.

Thete is a pending civil case berween NPC and third-party daimans with tespect to cettain porrion of the

land underlying the SIPCOR Properties leased by the Company from NPC.

Currently, there is a pending civil case between NPC and third-p.tty claimants over a Portion of the Siquiior

Diescl Powcr Plant Land which NPC is ieasing to the Company located in Candanay Sur, Siquiior, Siquijot,

with an arca of 2,427 sq.m.

The Company was advised by the NPC that the parties ate undetgoing mediation proceedings with respect

to such civil cases. Nonetheless, PREIT has been advised by the NPC that it is actively pursuing its claims

on the properqv and is intent on preserving and protecting its ownership of the televant affected portion of
the land. The NPC also believes that there is no merit to the chim as all payments fot the ownership of the

land have been made by the NPC to the third-party claimant. For more information on this claim, please

refer to the discussion under "Legal Proceedings".

In the evcnt that an adversc dccision is rcndcred against NPC which will rcsult in the cviction of the

Company from the affected portion of the land, the Company and SIPCOR believe that occupauon by the

third-party claimant of the relevant portion of the proiect site will not materially affect SIPCOR's ability to

continue its power generation operations nor its results of operations. In such scenario, SIPCOR has

contingency plans for the rekrcation of the relevant generation facilities located within the affected areas

under litigation, to another portion of the land which is not subject to litigation ot third-parry claims. Such

generation facilities and plant assets can be easily transfered to other ateas of the ProPerry which are not

covered by thc third-parry claim, considering that such assets are not pclmancndy affixed to the 2,427 sq.

m plot of land.

Should there be such intem:ption in business caused by the relocation of the equipment ftom the affected

atea, it will likely be for approximately one to two months only. Furthermore, any anticipated loss in

generation capacity dudng the relocation pedod may be minimDed through temPorary lease generation

iacilities from third parties. The Company may also lease or putchase the affected proPerty from the thkd-
parry claimant.

'l'be Properties are wffut to the risk of bsinq reaen* in the went tbE are rendered inoperabh Jbr an indtfinite tirue pcriod

dae to force majeuru eaenfi, and tbe Pnper! Manager and tbe lzssees mo1 be reqilwd to mdertakt sigtifinnt rtpair and

replacerut workt.

lf any of the power plants comprising the Properties are rendered inoperable due to force maieute eYents,

there can be no assurance that the Lessees will be able to successfirlly achieve the proiected net electricity

-7 -



genemtion values, which could materially affect the Company's and its kssees' business prospects, financial

condition, tcsults of operations and cash flow. The Company's tcvcnucs and its kssces' nct opcrating
revenue witl also be affected, which could materially and adversely affect the amount of Distributable
Income available to the Company for distribution to its Shareholders.

To manage these risks, the Lessees, who are responsible for secuting the relevant insurance policies and

undetaking any repair or maintenance works on the Propenies leased ftom the Company, maintain

comprehensive insuance pol-icies that cover business interruption. Howel'er, there can be no assurance

that the frssces'insurance policics will covcr tcpair and replacement costs, whcthcr partially or fully, which
could materially affect the Company's or its Lessees' business, prospects, financial conditron, results of
operations, and cash flows.

Tbe Cor@ary's poner plart arsets are siljcct to tbe isk of kting taenue in the annt tbel are rcndtred inoperabh for an

infufnite tine period &te to force m@eure eueflts, dfld tbe Conpanl and the ltssees n,g be rcqaired to andertake significant

rEair and replacenent porks.

The operations of the power plants located on the Company's Leased Propetties ate subiect to a number

of risks generally associated with the generation of electdciry. These risks could include typhoons, fires,

earthquakes and other natural disasters and calamities, breakdowns, failures or substandard performance of
equipmeng improper installation or operation of equipment, accidents, acts of terrorism, operational and

iogistical issues, and labor distutbances.

These events may cause personal iniury and loss of life and damage to, or the destruction of, propertl' and

equipment of the power plants located on the Company's lrased Ptopeties and may result in the limitation
or intcrnrption of thc Company's and its icssees'business opcrations and the imposition of civil ot criminal
liabilities.

If an,v of the Compan/s po\yer plant assets are tendered inoperable due to force maf eure events, such as

damage caused by weather conditions, there can be no assurance that the Lessees wi-ll be able to successfully

achieve the projected net electriciry generation values, which could materially affect the Company's and its

Lessecs' business prospects, financial condition, tesults of operations and cash flow. The Company's

revenues and its Lessees'net operating revenue will also be affected, which could materially and adversely

affect the amounr of Disributable Income available to the Company for distribution to its Shareholders.

To manage these risks, the Company and its Lcssees maintain comprehensive insurance policies that covct
business intemrptir-rn. The insurance policies also insures againsg but not limited to "all risks" of sudden

and accidental physical loss or damage to red or personal properties or to t}le insured properties and

interests of every kind and description used fot in connection with the ownetship, maintenance and

operation of the televant Properties from whatevet cause nrlt specifically excluded in the policy. Pursuant

to the REIT Regulations, each Property is covered up to the matket replacement value and at the time of
the ioss, with such l'alue to be determined at the time of loss (according to a fotmula prescribed under the

relcvant insurancc coverage) and loss ofrental.

However, thete can be no assutance that the Company's or its Lessees'insurance policies will cover tepair

and replacement costs, whethet partially or fully, which could materially affect the Company's ot its Lessees'

business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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S ipnilirunt' l'ransartions Daino 2022

lnmase in Authoiryd Capital Snck

At the duly constituted meeting of the Board of Ditectors of the Company held on Match 9,2022, the
increase in the authorized capital stock of the Company to P7,500,000,000.00, divided into 7,500,000,000
common shares, with a par vaiue of P1.00, was approved by the affirnative vote of at least a maiority of
the mcmbers of the Boatd of Dite ctors.

The af<rrementioned increase in the authorized capital stock of the Companl'v/as approved by the
affirmative vote of stocklolders owning or representing at least two-thirds Q/ 3) of the outstanding capital
stock of the Company at a meeting heid on thc same date at the sarne venuc.
On 31 NIay 2022, the SEC approved the increase in authorized capital stock.

Execurton of Dud of Assignment and Sfivriptiott

Out of the increase in the authorized capital stock of the Company, 3,288,664,000 common shares have
been subscribed at an aggregate subscription price ofP8,221,660,000.00, and the Sponsors, as subsctibers,
have paid their respective subscriptions in frrll by way of transfer of the Properties (consisting of real and
petsonal properties and cerain real rights). On 31 May 2022, the Company and Sponsors executed a deed
of assignment whereas the Sponsors cede, assign and transfer to the Company, in a manner absolute and
irevocable, the patcels of land located in Candanay, Siquijor, Lazi, Siquijot, Poro, Cebu and Pilar, Cebu,
including the buildings located in the said patcels of land, to the REIT, in consideration for the issuance of
REIT's shares. The property-for share swap transaction, formhg part of the capital increase of the REIT,
was also approvcd by the SEC on May 31, 20Z2.Thetcquisite Certificatcs Authorizing Rcgistmtion (CARs)
authorizing the transfer of legal titie to the Properties from the Sponsors to the Companv w-ere issued on
September 2, 2022. The parcels of land include the iand owned by the NPC to which the lease right was

also assigned to the REIT as approved by the NPC. The lease has an original term of 20 years with renewal
option, subject to mutual agteement of both parties, and an escalation rate of 20oh every five years. By
vimre of the Properry-for-Share Swap, the Sponsors acquired further control of the Company, through an

aggregatc ownership intercst o{ 100oh of the totzrl issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company.

C as h D iaidtnd D eclaration

On 11 July 2022, thc BOD approvcd the declaration of cash dividcnds amounting to P2.0 million from its
unrestricted retained earnings payable to stockholders of record as of 11 July 2022. The dividends were
paid on 29 Lrgtst2022.

Initial Ptblic OfenngThnryh .\luordary (ffir of .\lbares

()n 15 December 2022, the Company successfully completed its P2.4 billion initial public offering (IPO)
through sccondary saic of shares hcld by its Sponsors, debuting with an initial portfolio of eight propertics
with a total gross ieasable area of 30,66(t square meters.
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S ionificant' I'ransactions Dainp 202 l

C aslt D iaidcnd I) eclarutio n

Do.itg the year, the BOD approved the declaration of the following dividends ftom its unrestricted
retained earninp payable to stockholders.

Cash Divitlend per
Share

Date of Declaration Pavrnent Date Iotal

4pn128,2023

June22,2023
September 8,2023

May 26,2023

July 17,2023
September 29,2023

0.0682
0.0299
0.0359

224,287,226
98,331,203

118,063,277

P

P 440,691,,646

S lqnirtcant Transactioru Daing 2024

Casb Diidmd Dedaration

Dudng the year, the BOD approved the declatation of the following dividends ftom its unrestricted
retained earnings payabie to stockholdets.

5,2024 P
Apttl14,2024
May 27,2024

AuS"ust 29'2024
November 28,2024

P 576,503,676

Item 2. Propeties

The Company's principal investment strategy is to invest in income-generating real estate. A core tenet of
the Company's investrnent policy is to invest in properties that meet a select set <-rf criteria desig,ned to
provide a competitive investment retum to investots once said ptoperties are in operation.

To meet the Company's investment criteria, a potential property should:

be capable of being efficiendy u'ilized for renerxrable energy, including uzhether that properry meets
specihc technical considerations such as proximity to existing connecdon assets or other related
inftastructute;
may be utilized for hybrid power lFneration facilities consisting of (i) renewable enerry, and (ii) either
(a) energr stotage systems, @) baseload power generation facilities, or (c) both;
to the exteot the ptoperty may best be utilized for social ot missionary electdfication, may be located
in underdeveloped ot missionary areas whete the Company, the Sponsors, and/or the companies under
the PAVI Gtoup have completed and validated the availability and teliabiJity of renewable energy
resources, and such areas have the potentirl to drive long-term sustainable growth; and

serve as an effective site fot potential power generation lessees who arc or will be well-placcd to secure
long-term offtake agreements with local electric coopetatives or distribution utilities in the absence of
national-level electricity procurement programs such as the Feed-in Tariff (FIT), the Green Energy
Auction Program (GEAP), ot such successor programs headed or managed by the Department of
Energl',

March72,2024
May 73,2024

Jvne28,2O24
September 27,2024
December 27,2024

0.0388
0.0388
0.0326
0.0326
0.0325

127,600,357
127,600,357

107,210,609
rc7,214,609
11,8,881,,744

a

a

a

a

(lash 1)ivi<lencl pcr
Slrarc

fotal
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As of 31 December 2024, rhe property portfolio of the Company consists of land arrd power pla-nt assers
utilized in thc power gcncration projccts of thc Sponsors.

The properties used in the operatit-rn of the 12.8 Megawatt (N,IS7) heavy fuel oil (I{FO)-fired power plants
of SIPCOR located in Candanay Sur and Lazi, Siquiiot (SIPCOR Power Plants) consist of (a) power
plants assets such as HFO diesel generatot sets and perimeter fence; @) burlding that houses physical
structures such as an administrative office, control room, warehouse, guatd house, staff house, material
tecovery faciJiry, wotkshop, fircfighting shed, fuel tank fatm, and fuel pump station; and (c) parcels of land
(including thc 3,000 sq.m, parcel of land locatcd inLazi, Siquiior, which is owned by thc Compan)', and
leasehold rights to 9,478 sq.m. parcel of land located in Candanay Sur, Siquijor) v-here the SIPCOR Pov'er
Plants are located (collectively, the SIPCOR Ptoperties). GI-A of each properry ate summarized in the
following tablc.

The properties used in the operation of the 8.4 Mw power plants of CAMPCOR located in Poro and Pilar,
Camotcs Island, Cebu (CAMPCOR Power Plants), consist of (a) buildings or pov,crhousc stations that
house physical structures such as water treatment unit, staff house, radiator unit, fire pump house, gu.ard
house, oil-watef sepafator, material fecovery facility, reverse osmosis house, transformer house, warehouse,
and administrativc officc; and O) 16,406.5 sq.m. parccls of land o'ffned by thc Company wherc such
buildings are located (collectively, the CAMPCOR Ptoperties, and together with the SIPCOR Pmpertics,
the Properties). GLA of each properq'are summarized in the following table.

All the Ptoperties are leased to the Sponsors and are being used by the latter to operate the SIPCOR Power
Plants and the CAMPC()R Power Plants, with a total combined installed capacity of 27.2NIV/.

As of 31 December 2024, all of the Properties registered occupancy rate is 100%o.

PREIT continuously seeks opportunities to acquke properties in prime locations through purchase or
otherwise to increase its leasable assets.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

As of the date of this Annual Report, there is no pending or tfueatened litigation involving the Company
or any of its Properties which would have a material adverse effect on the business or financial position of
the Company or any of its subsidiarics, or any of its or their properties.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matter was submitted during the year 2024 to a vote of security hoiders.

J and - Candanav, Siquiior 9,478 sq.m.
Land - Lazi, Siquiior 3,000 sq.m
Building - Candanay, Siquilor 353.2 sq.m.
Powerplant Assets - Candanay Siquiior 607 sq.m

SIPCOR cs GI-A

Land - Camotes, Cebu 8,468 sq.m.

Land - Pilar, Cebu 7,938.5 sq.m.
Building - Camotes, Cebu 577.3 sq.m.
Buildins - Pilat, Cebu 244 sq.m

CANIPCOR P GIA
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PART II - OPERATIONALAND FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 5. Market Information

PREITs corunoo shares are ffaded on the PSE under the symbol PREIT. The shares were listed on 15

December 2022.

The following table sets out, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices for the Company's

common shares as rep<;rted on the PSE:

Matket price of the shares as of 31 December 2024 wasP2.21 per shate based on the closing price'

Holdets

As of 31 Dcccmber 2024, rhe company's total common shares issued and outstanding is 3,288,669'000

held by 12 shareholde.. .rf ."..rrd. The fr.rllowing table sets forth the shareholders of the company as of 31

December 2024.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy in accordance vith the provisi<-rns of the REIT Lavr which

requires 
"'nUi1. 

to distribute anoually a total of at lear;tg0o/o of its distributable net income as adiusted for

unrealized gains and losses/expenses and impairment losses, and other items in accordance with generally

accepted 
"c..rrrrrting 

standarJs (excluding proceeds &om the sale of the Company's assets that are

reinvested in the Company within one year ftom the date of the sale) as dividends to its shareholders. Such

divi{ends shall be payable only from the unrestricted retained eamings, and the income distributable as

dividends shall be Lared .rn the audited financial statements fot the most recendy completed fiscal year

pdor to the prescribed distribution.

1.521..63First Quarter (|anuary to Ivlarch)

1.571.98Second Quarter (Apdl toJune)
1.802.05Thitd Quarter (uly to September)

',.662.40Fourth Quarter (October to December)

Lo*High2024

48.86',h
1. PCD Nominee

25.710I
S.I. Power2

25.39%834,839,1.32Camotes Island Power Generation3

00.04n/o1,464,000PCD Nominee Non4
00.00%2,000) ennifer T. Ramos
00.00%1

6
00.00%1Garth F7
00.00%1

8 Rommel C.
00.f)0%1.

9 Leonardo
00.00%INlanuel Paolo A. Villarl0
00.00%IMaria Isabel11
00.00%tt2 NL Mendoza

100.00%3,288,669,000Total
00.o401,464,000Shares Owned bY Foreigners

Percentage of
OrvnershipHoldingsRank Name

-t2-

1,606,774,000
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The Company may dedare either cash, propert)', or stock dividends. However, the dedaration of stock
dividcnds must be approved by at least a maioriq. of the cntire membership of the Company's Board,
including the unanimous vote of all its independent Directors, and stockholders representing not less than
rwo-thirds Q/3) of the outstanding capitai stock at a regular meeting or special meeting called for that
purpose. Aoy such stock dividend declaration is also subiect to the apprcval of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEQ withtn five working days from teceipt of the request for approval. If the SEC does not
act on the said request within such a pedod, the declaration shall be deemed approved.

Thc Company intends to dcclarc and pay out dividends on a quartcrly basis cach ycar. In 2022,2023 and
2024,PRF:IT has declared and paid out cash dividends as follows:

Item 6. Managementrs Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations

Results of Operations (Financial Perfotmance)
Rcvicw of rcsults of opcrations for the ,vear endcd 31 Deccmbcr 2024 and,2023. PREIT was incorporated
on 4 March 2022 and started its commercial ope rations in Jur.e 2022.

Reuenue increavdfrom P641.8 nillion to P695.6 nillion
Revenues during the period solely pertains to income ftom the lease of properties to the lessees who operate
power plants on such leased properties, The amount of revenue recognized was in accordance with the
relevant Philippine Financial Rcporting Standards (PFRS). Under PFRS 16, the tental income includes the
effect of the straight-line basis of accounting <-rver the lease term, The revenue is P51.8 million higher due
to the increase of variable lease income recognized f<-rr the year. No additional lease agreements has been
entered into during the year.

Cost of nntak inmasedfmn P70.8 nillion to P85.8 nifiot
Cost of rentals which amounted to P85.8 million or equivalent to '12.0o/n of rental income consisted of
dcprcciation of gcneration asscts, fund and propcrty managemcnt fccs and various fces and taxcs. Thc
increase of P15.0 million is mainly attributed to increase in depreciation and taxes.

Operartng Expenses irmasedfnn P4.7 nillion a P6.9 nillion
Operating expenses amounted to P6.9 million for the period or equivalent to 1.0oh <-rf rental income. These
mainly pertain to professional fees and administrative fees incurred during the period. Higher sales from
prior year tesulted to highu administrative expense specifically in business permit for the year.

Net Otber lrcone (Charyes) amotnted to P85.1 nilku ad P21 1,1 nillion in 2024 and 2021, rcsputiwll
Based on the appraisal of properties, the value of the investment properties resulted in a P86.5 million fair
valuc gain for the year ended Dccembcr 31,2024, as compared to a fair value guo of P213.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The fair values of the investment properties were determined by
independent and SEC-accredited property appraisers. Finance cost on Iease liability during the period
amounted to P0.4 million while interest on bank deposits increased to P4,506.

l:u]v 11,2022 luly 11,2022 Ausust 29,2022 0.0100

{prt 28.2023 May 12,2023 Mat'26,2023 0.0682

lur.e 22,2023 lulv 7,2023 luly 1,7,2023 0.0299

September 8,2023 September 23.2023 September 29,2023
February 5,2024 Februarv 20,2024 Nlarch72,2024 0.0388

Itpnl14,2024 1\pr1126,2024 May 13,2024 0.0388

Nlay 27,2024 llune 11,2024 1:ur.c28,2024 0.0326
September 13,2024 September 27,2024 0.0326August 29,2024

November 28,2024 December 13,2024 December 27,2024 0.0325

Cash l)ividend pcr ShareDatc of Declaration Rccord l)ate Par.ment Date
ln Ph
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As a result, PREIT rcgistcrcd a nct profit for the pcriod amounting to P656.0 million.

Otber Conprcbensiue Income dumasedfram P57.1 nillion to P63.9 rnillion

Items reported in Other Comprehensive Income pert^in to the revaluation inctease of property and

equipment which amounted to P63.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 and P67.1 million for
the y'ear ended 31 December 2023.Totd comptehensive income amounted roP719.9 million for the year

ended 31 Deccmbcr 2024 ardP771.1 million for thc 1'car cndcd 31 Decembct 2023'

Financial Position as of 31 December 2024

Assets

Caslt denea*dfmnt P 51.9 uillion to P 0.9 nillion
The nct decre ase in cash ba.lance is due to the scttlement of payables and distribution of cash dividcnds on

12 March 2024 amountirgto P'127.6 million, on 13 May 2024 amounting to P127.6 million, on 28 June
2024 amounting toP707.2 million, on 27 Septembet 2024 amounting toP707.2 million aod ot27
Deccmber 2024 arnownng to P106.9 million. Quanedy dividends were paid dudng the yeat out of the

distributable income for each the quarters from 1 Joly to 31 December 2023 and "l ]anuary 2024 to 30

September 2024.

Trade and otlter receiaables demasedftrn P 1.1 bil/ion to P 889.5 nillion
The decrease in trade and other receivables is ditecdy attdbutable to highet collections of rentals compared

to billings dudng the year.

Prupgtnents and otba-rumrt arxh inmasedfntn P $.0 nillirtn to P 55.0 nillion
Tht inctease mainly pertains to the recognitjon of cteditable withholding tax ftom the collections made'

These will be utilized against any future income tr-x payable.

Nx pnperg and equipnunt inmasedfmnt P911.5 nillion to P 961.5 ruilbon

Movement to properry and cquipment perains to dcpreciation for thc period and tcvaluation incteasc.

Iruestaent pmpenies itmascdfnm P 7.8 hillion to P 7.9 bilrton

The Companv's iavestrnent properties, which comprise of lands (including land subfect to right-of-use of
asset) and buildings leased out to pos/er plant operators, increased in value by P86.5 million due to the

appraisal of prt-rperties. There were mr acquisirions and disposals made during the year.

Liabilities

Trade ard otherpaybhs fucrcasedfmn P 192'4 nillion to P 1 18.7 nillion
The decrease in uade and other payables is due to the setdement of liabilities during the year.

Dre to nlated partiu demasedfwn P 509.9 nillion to P 122.7 nillion
Due to related parties composed of cash advances from its patent comPany and a related parry under

corftnon ownership for accommodation of certain expenses, working capital requirements, and other

pufposes. The decrease is pdmarily due to the setdement of the advances due to affiliates.

l-,ease liabilig (in&tding non-camnt portion) demasedfmn P 6.2 nillion to P 5.8 nillior
Movements to the account were due to rePayments and amortizaUon dwing the year.

Equity

Eqaij increasedfroru P 9.10 billion to P 9.24 billion

Totd equity is higher in 2024 with increases in revaluatiofl surplus and retained earnings. Revaluation

reser\/es increased foliowing the revaluation of proper$', plant and equipment under the revalution model.
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Retained earnings increased as the company recogaized a total comprehensive income of P779.9 million
nct of dividend declarations during the yeat.

Material Events and Uncertainties

There were no seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or results <.rf operations

of the Company. Neithet were there any trends, events or uncerainties that have had ot that are reasonably

cxpected to have a material impact on net sales or revenues ot income ftom continuing opetations, excePt

for the recovery as a result ofthe opening up ofthe economy.

The Company is not aware of events that vzill cause a material change in the telationslup between costs and

teYenues.

There are no significant elements of income or loss that did not arise ftom the Company's continuing

opctations.

There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arangements, oUigations (including contingent

elligations), and other rclationships of the company with unconsolidated entities or ot}rcr persons created

during the reporting period.

There are no material commitments for capitd expenditutes. PREIT has no indebtedness with any bank.

Key Financial Ratios

PREIT's kcy financial ratio as of 31 Deccmber 2023 
^id 

2024 are as follows:

The key ratios ptovide directors and management with a measure of liquidity (Current Ratio), financial

strength pebt to E.l"iq), and profitabiLity (Eamings per Share, Retum on Asset, and Retum on Equiry).

The Company was incoqporated on 4 March 2022 and statted its commercial opetations in}one 2022.

0.20 0.21llarninn; per share
2.05 1.63Current rauo
0.06 0.08Debt to Eqoity
0.07 0.07Retum on Asset

0.07 0.08Retum on Equity

2024 2023RatioKc
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External Audit Fees and Services

Engagement fees for the senrices rendered by the Company's external audit<.rrs, Punongbayan & Araullo,
are as follows:

The Board of Directors, aftet consultation with the Audit Committee, recofirmends to the stockholders t]e
engagement of the externai auditors of the Company. The selection of external auditors is made on the
basis of credibility, profcssional rcputation, accrcditation with the Philippinc Sccuritics and Exchangc
Commission, and affiliation with a repuable foreign parmer. The professional fees of the extemai auditors
of the Compan)'are approved by the Compan/s Audit Committee after approval by the stockholders of
the engpgement and prior to the commencement of each audit season.

ltem 7. Financial Statements

Financial Statements meeting the requirements of SRC Rule 68, as amended, are attached heret<,r as Exhibit
1 and incorporated hetein by reference.

Item 8. Changes In and Disagteements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure

There are no disagreements with the auditors on any marter of accounting principles or practices, financial
statement disclosute, ot auditing scope or procedure, which, if not resolved to their satisfaction, would have
causcd thc auditors to refcrcnce thcrcto in their repofts on t}te financial statemcnts oF thc Company.

Year-end audit P425,000 P400,000

Quarterly agreed-upon procedures
on use ofproceeds P340,000

2023Nature of Engagcmcnt 2024
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PART TII - CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION

Item 9. Board of Ditectors and Executive Officers

As of 31 December 2024,there are seveo members of the Company's Board of Directors, tlree of whom
are independent directors. As provided by Revised SRC Rule 38, an independent director is a person who,
apart from his fees and shareholdings, is independent of management and ftee from any business or other
relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with his exercise of
independent iudgment in carrying out his resp<;nsibilities as director.

The following are the names, ages, citizenship of the incumbent members of the Board of Ditectors and

executive officers of the Company:

Below are summaries of the business experience and ctedentials of the Directors and the Company's key

executive officets:

Timothy Joseph M. Mendoza, Dinctor, Pnsifunt and CEO. Atty. Mendoza, gtaduated from the Ateneo de

Manila University with a delyee in Bachelor of Arts Major in Political Science Minor in Hispanic Studies in
20O2. lle received his Bachelor of Laws from the University of the Philippines in 2006, ranking 9th highest

gtade overall in the 2006 Bar Examinations. He loined the law {irm of Picazo Buyco Tan Fider & Santos

in 2006 as a Junior Associate and became a Partner frcm 2014 to 2077 . From 2077 b 2020, he worked as

Partner for Quisumbing Torres, a member fum of Baker McKenzie International as the head of the

Banking and Finance Practice Group, ltinancial Institutions Group, IrinTech [rocus Group, and

Restructuring and Insolvency Focus Group. For the 1'ears 2018, 2019 and 2020, Atty. Mendoza was ranked

as a I-eading La'vq1,er for Banking and Finance by the Chambers and Partners Asia-Pacific. In 2020, he was

also ranked as a Leading Lawl'er for Corporate and Finance by the Chambers and Partners Global and a

Rising Star for Banking and Financial Services by the Asialaw Leading Law1,s1s. For the ),ears 2018 and

2O19,he was cited as one of the Philippines'Top 100 lawl'ers in the A-Iist Top 100 Lawyers in the

Philippines by the Asian Business Law Journal. Atty. Mendoza concutrendy serves as the Corporate

Secretaty of Prime Asset Ventures, Inc. and its variou-s subsidiaries. He is also a Ptofessional Lecturer at

the De La Salle UniversityTaiada-Diokno College of Law and a member of the advisory committee at the

Manila Central Univctsiw.

Cynthia l,lavarez, Cbairruan and Dinctor. Ms. Javarez, gtaduated from the Universiry of the East with a

degree in Bachelor of Science in Business Administration, mafor in Accounting. She is a Certified Public

Accountant. She completed a Management Development Program at the Asian lnstitute of Management

in 2006. Ms. Javarez was previously the Chief Financial Officet of Polar Property Holdings Corp. until 201 1

and the Tax & Audit Head in the MB Villar Group of Companies until 2007. She is the current President

1 As of the date of writing this report, Atty. Karen G. Empaynado has resigned as Corporate Secretary on

January 16,2025 and has been replaced by Atty.Caren Kay B. Adolfo.

43 Filipino
President, Chief Executive Officer and

Directot
TimothyJoseph M. Mendoza

61 Filipino Chairman and DircctorCynthia l.lavltcz
DirectorManuel Paokr A. Villar 48 Filipin<r

57 Filipino Chief Operating Officer and Directorfose Rommel C. Orillaza
44 Filipino Independent DirectorGarth F. Castarieda

Filipino Inclependent DirectorLeonardo Singson 46

Indcpcndent DircctorMaria Isabel l. Rodriguez 41 Filipin<r
Treasurer and ChieF Finance OfficerCecille Marie H. Bematdo 53 Filipino

M Filipino Invcstor Rclations OfficcrVinccnt Kitto N. lacinto
38 Filipino Corp(xate SecretaryKaren G. Empaynadol

Pilipino Compl-iance C)fficerNielson G. Panran 38

PositionNamc Ag. Citizenship
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of Fine Properties, Inc, and Treasurer and Chief Risk ()fficer of Vista Land & Lifescapes, Inc. Ms. Javarez
is also thc Chairman of Prime Asset Vcnrures, Inc. and Dusit Hospitaliry Education Phiiippines, Inc.

Marruel Paolo A. Villar, Dircctor. I\{r. Villar, graduated from the Wharton School of the Universitl' of
Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, USA with a tsachelot of Science in Economics and tsachelor of Applied Science

in 1999. He was an Analyst for McKinsey &Co. in the United States from 1999 to 2001. He ioined Vista
Land in 2001 as Head of Corporate Planning then became its Chief Financial Officer in 2008. He was

elected President and Chief Executive Officer of Vista Land and Lifescape s, Inc. inJuly 201 1 and President

of Vistamalls, Inc inJune 2019. In addition, hc is the CEO and Chairman of St. Augustinc Gold and Coppcr
Limited and Chairman of T\rI Resources Development Philippines, Inc., Powersource Phils Development
Corp. and the Chaitman of Vista Land subsidiaries Camella Homes, Inc., Commuoities Philippines, Inc.,
Crown Asia Properties, Inc., Britt,rny Corporation, Vista Residcnccs, Inc. Mr. Villar also is the majority
shareholder of Prime Asset Ventures, lnc.

Jose Rommel C. Orillaza, Director and Chief Operating Oficer. Mr. Orillaz4 gtaduatcd foom thc Adamson

University with a degree in Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering in 1989. From 2004 to 2071, he was

the Chief Technical Officer / Division Head of Casa Regal-ia, Inc. He previously vrorked as the Chief
Technical Officer of Household Development Corp., Operations Head of Communities Philippines Inc.,
Technical Head of Crovrn Asia Properties, Inc. and Operations Head of Southwell W'aterworks, Inc. Mr.
Onllaza is currently the Operations Head of Kratos Res, Inc., and the Operations Head and President r-rf

Camotes Island Power Generation Corporation and S.I. P0wet Corporation.

Garth F. Castafieda, IndEeilent Dircctor. Atty. Castafleda, graduated from the University of Sto. Tomas

with a degree in Bachelot of Science in Accountancy h 2002. He teceived his Bachelor of Laws from the

University of the Philippincs in 2006. He is a Ccrtificd Public Accountant. In 2014, hc rvorkcd as a

Consultant in the Privatization Management OFfice in the Depanment of Finance, He previoush, r1',rtp.6

as an Associate in Puno and Puno l-aw ()ffices, an Associate in Sycip Salazar Hetnandez Gatmaitan and a

Senior Tax Associate in SGV & Co. Any. Castaffeda is currendy a Partnet in SYMECS Law and acts as

counsel for various companies including lvleuo Pacific Investments Corporation, SN Aboitiz Power

Corporation, North Luzon Renewable Energy Corporation, NorthV'ind Power Development Corporation,
Collab Asia Phitippines, Inc., among others.

I-eonardo Singsorl Independtnt Director. Atty. Singson, gladuated from the Unir,rrsity of the Philippines -
Diliman with a degree in Bachelor of Atts in Public Administation n 2002. He received his Bachelot of
Laws tlom thc Univcrsiq' of the Philippines in 2006. Ftom 2020 to 2021, hc worked as Lcppl Counscl for
GNPower Ltd. Co. He was previously aPattner inYillaraza & Angangco Law where he was connecrcd

from March 2008 to 2020.Pior to this, he was a Seniot Associate in SGV & Co. Atty. Singson is currendy
Of Counsel for Betita Cabilao Casuela Sarmiento Law

Maria IsabelJ. Rodriguez, lndcpen&nt Dinctor. Ms. Rodriguez, graduated ftom the De La Salle Univetsity
- Manila with a degree in Bachelor of Science in Accountancy in 2003. She is a Cetified Public Accountant.
Shc eamed her post graduate ccrtificate in Lcadership and Managcment t:rom the Asian Institute of
Management and obtained an Advanced Professional Certificate in Transfer Pricing at the Intetnational
Bureau of Fiscal Documentation n 2023. She previously worked as the Asia Suategic Business Unit - Tax
Dlectot of AES Ttanspower Pte. Ltd. - ROHQ and as a Tax Director of Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co. Ms.
Rodriguez is currently a Credit Commitee Member of the CRH USD Finance ZRT., Hong Kong Branch.
She is also the cutent Tteasuter of Republic Cement Land & Resources Inc. and a Tax Director at th€
Republic Cement Services Inc.

Cecille Marie H. Bemardo, Trxasunr, Cbief Firunce Ofuer and Chief Pjsk Ofiter. Ms. Bemardo graduated

cum laude ftom Univetsity of the Philippines, with a deg:ree in Bachelor of Science in Business

Administration and Accountancy in 1991 and tanked Top 6 in the 1991 CPA Board Examination. From

January 1992 to November 1996, she wotked as an Audit and Business Advisoty Executive of Sycip,

Gorres, Velayo & Co. (SGV&Co.). She also worked as a Colporate Planniol; Officer of the MBVillar Group
of Companies from November 1996 to February 2002. She received het Mastet of Applied Finance from
the University of Melboume, Australi4 gaduating top 10% of her class in 2002. Ftom March 2003 to 2015,
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she worked as the Commetcial Finance Director of The Coca-Cola Cotporation / Coca-Cola Far East
Limited. In2016, she was appointed as the Ptesident of AllBank (A Thrift Banl', Inc). From 2019 until
February 2024, she served as the President of Mrund Management, Inc.

Vincent Kitto N.Jacinto, InaestorRelations Officer.Mr. Jacinto, graduated from the Ateneo de Manila
University with a degree in Bachelot Science in Management in 2002. He obtained his Mastet of Business
Administration degree from Ateneo Graduate School of Business in 2006. He pteviously worked as a
Ptoduct Development ()fficer and Seniot Managet of Filinvest Land, Inc. ftom 2072 to 201 5 and a Pto ject
Hcad / Busincss Der,-clopmcnt Assistant of Landco Pacific Corporation from 2002 to 201 1. Mr. Jacinto
is currently the Business Development Head r.rf Prime Asset Ventures, fnc. and Vista Land & Landscapes,
Inc.

Karen G. Empaynado, Corporate .\lecretaU.Atty. Empaynado, graduated from the University of the
Philippines - Diliman with a degree in Bachelor of Science in Business Economics in 2009. She received
her Juris Doctor from the Ateneo de Manila Law School in 2016. She previously wotked as an Associate
for Prcazo Buyco Tan Fider and Santos Law and as a.n Assistant Manager in Legal Corpotate Banking
Group of BDO Unibalk, Inc.

Nielson G. Pangan, Coupliana Oficer. Atty. Niel Pangn, graduated from New Era University with a

degree in Bachelor of Science in Business Administration in 2008. He received his Juris Doctt-rr fr<-rm the
University of the Philippines in 2013, ranking 1st, with the highest grade ovetall in the 2013 Bar
Examinations. He obtained his Masters of Law in lntemadonal Business Law and .Lotetnational Dispute
Resolution from Queen Mary University of London. He joined the Illigallos and Luna Law Offices tn 2013.
Ftom 2014 to 2016, he worked as an Associate Solicitor with the ()ffice of the Solicitor General. He also

workcd as a Scnior Legislative Officer for thc Office of Senatot Angara ftom 2017 to 2018. In 2019, hc

ioined TolosaJavier Law as a Senior Ass<rciate. Atty. Pangan also served as Senior Legal Counsel in Huawei
Technologies Philippines, Inc. and as Regulatory and Legal Counsel of Coins.ph. He cutrently serves as

Deputy General Counsel for Pdme Asset Ventures, Inc. and Primewatet Infrastructure Corp,

E mb/avees

The Company has no significant employees other than senior management.

I:aruiAt Rclationtbib

There are no known family relationships between the current members of the Board and key officers.

None of the directors, executive officers or persofls nominated to be elected to the Company's Board are

related up to the foutth civil degree, eithet by consanguinity ot affinity.

Inuolaement in Certain l-qal Pmceediw

As of date of this Aonual Report, the Company has no knowledge atd/ot information that any of the

Company's directors, officers or nominees fot election as Directors is, presendy or during the last five (5)

years, involved in any material legal proceeding which will have any matetial effect on the Company, its

operations, reputatioo, or financial condition.

Item 10. Executive ComPensation

The Company's By-Lavzs provides directors shall not receive afly compensation, as such &ectors' except

for reasonabie per diem. Any compensation may be granted to Directors by vote of stockholders

representing at least a majority of the outstanding capital stock at a regular or special meeting. In n<; case

sh^ull the tot-al yeady compensation of Directors, as such dfectors, exceed 10ah of the net income before

income tax of the Company during the preceding yeat.
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The Company's key officers, namely: TimothyJoseph M. Mendoza, Cecille Marie H. Bernardo, and Karen

G. Empaynado, are also scrving as officers of PAVI. Thcy do not rcceivc any compcnsation from the

Company. The compensarion of these officers is paid by PAVI or the relevant PAVI Group company.

There are flo executive officers other than the aforementioned individuals.

lndependent directots of the Company were entitled to per diem for meetings attended for the yeat 2O24.

Details of the compensatjon for independent directors were as follows:

Independent Directors 2023 m24

Independent Ditector 1 P137,500 P 137,500

Independent Director 2 and 3
Aggregate of
P410,000.00

Aggregatc of
P322,500.00

Thcre was no other compensation paid to the directors other than as indicated above. The Company does

not pay PAW or thc rclcvant PAVI group any scrvicc fccs.

Standard Afian{,enefltt

There have not been, nor will be, any standard afiangements pursuant to which the Boatd of Ditectors are

compensated, or are to be compensated, direcdy or indirecdy, for any services provided as a dLector, for
the last complcted fiscal 1'ear and the ensuing ycar.

EnPloJnent Contract bctueen tlx Con?aUt and.(eniorMarugenent O[um

There are no special employrnent contracts between the Company and Senior Management.

Ofltstandins Ottions

As of 31 December 2O24, there are no outstanding warrants or options in connection with the shares of
the Company held by any of the directots or executive officers.

Item 11. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Owners of record of mote than five percent (5%) of PREIT's shares of stock as of
31 December 2024 are as f<rllows:

1,(t06,774,000 48.86YoPCD Nominee Coqp.

@ilipino)

G/F MSE Bldg. Ayala
Ave., Makati Ciry

Stockholder

PCD participants
acting for
themselves or for
their customers

FilipinoCommon

Filipino 845,589,861 25.7tY"S.I. Power
Corporation

Woddwide Corporate
Center, Shaw

S.I. Power
Corporation

Common

Nanre & Address of
Rccord Ou,ner &
Relationship rvith

Issuer

Name of
Berrclicial Onrrer
& Rclationship

with Record
Orlner

Number of
Shares Held

Percent
(u/u)

Title of
CIass
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Boulevard,
Mandaluyong Ciry

Stockholder
Commou Camotes Island Power

Generation
Corpotation

8F VistaHub Campus
Tower 1 Levi B.
Mariano Ave. Brglr
IJsusan, Taguig NCR

Stockholder

Camotes Island
Power Generation
Corlxrration

Filipino 834,839,132 25.39"h

pCD Nominee Corporation filipino) GCD) is not related to the Company. Among the PCD participants,

HDI Securities, I.rc owns 1,440,4ti0,000 shares reptesenting 43.80% of the Company's outstanding capital

stock.

Secarib, Oanersbi| of Dincnn at of 31 Decenba' 2024

.feah! Opnersbb of Managannt as ol jl Duenber 2024

Fonion Onnersbib

As of 31 December 2024,1,464,000 cornmon shares, or 0.047o of the Company's outstanding capital stock,

are owned by foreigners. The Company's foreiga ownership limit is 40/o.

0.00%1(Dtuect)Garth F. Casta6edaCommon

0.00%1 (Direct)Common Timothy Joseph M. Mendoza

0.02%801,001 @irect & lndirect)CynthiaJ.JavarczCommr>n

0.00%1 @irect)Common Manuel Paolo A. Villar

0.00"h1 @irect)Common Jose RommelC. Ortllaza

0.00%1 @irect)Leonardo A. SingsonCommon

0.00%1 @irect)Maria Isabel J. RodriguezCommon

Iitle of Class Name of Beneficial Orrrrer
Shares Owned and

Naturc of Bcne ficial OrvnershiP

9,ir of Totzrl
Outstzrnding

Sl"rarcs
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Item 12. Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions

S.I. P0wer Corporation Income arising ftom leased
propcrtics

P384,161,695

P60,613,265S.I. P0wer Corporation Cash advances ftom
parent company for
accommodation o f certain
expenses and working capital
requircmcnts

P381,908I-iability arising from lease

agreement entered with Parent
Company

S.I. POwer Colpt-rration

P311,447,6'.t6Income arising from leased

properties
Camotes Island Power
Generation Corporation

Cash payment to
parcnt company for
accommodatton of certain
expenses and working capital
requirements

P247,849,512Camotes Island Power
Gencration Corporation

Under the Fund Management
Agreement, the Fund Manager will
receive an annual firnd management
fee equivalent to 0.5o/n of the

Company's Rental Income Iess

straight-line adiustrnents, exclusivc of
value-added taxes.

Fund management fee\rFund Management, Inc.

Property maflagement fee Under the Property Management
Agrreement, the Properry Manager will
rcccivc an annual managcmcnt fcc
eqnrvalent to 1.5uh of the Company's
Anoual Rental Income iess straight-
line adjustments, exclusive of value-
added taxes, provided that the total of
such fee and the Fund Management
Fee shall not exceed L}oh of the Net
Asset Value of the ptopetties being
managed.

V Property lVlanagement, lnc.

Related Panies Nature of tlre Transaction Value of thc Transaction
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PART IV _ CORPORATE GOYERNANCE

Item ili. CorPorate Govemance

Compliance

The Board has adopted the Company's Manual on Corporate Governance which institutionalizes the

principles of good iolporrr. governance in the entire organization. The Company believes that it is a

necessary componeot crf souni strategic business management, hence, effots are undertaken to create

,-"r...r. within the organtzaitot.The Roard of Directors, Management and officers commit themselves

to the pdnciples and best practices contained on the Manual on Corporate Govemance (the "Manual) and

acknowledgi that the same shall guide the attainmeot of the corporate goals.

Gteen Initiatives and Corporate Social Responsibility

The Company adheres to aod inteods to implement the Ilnvir<-rnmental, Social and Corporate Governance

('ESG') poti.l.r established by the PAVI Group througt its parent :ompany, 
PAVI' The current ESG

p,rti.y ,.qr.ires each member of the PAVI Group, including each of the Sponsors and the Company, to

undertake initiatives aimed at growing l<;cal communities - through education, iob creation, as weli as

stimulus/sustainable environment and livelihood programs'

ln the course of its operations, the Company will also implement one or more, or a combination of these

various initiatives in furtherance of the PAVI Group's ESG policy'

Deviations from Manual and Sanctions Imposed

There is no material deviation to the provision of the Manual on Corporate Governance ln 2024. PREIT

has substanrially complied, and no sanctions wete imposed ofl any directot or officer on account of non-

compliance with its Manual on Corporate Governance'

Updates on Co{Porate Governance

PRtrIT,s l{anual of Coqporate Governance is compliant with SEC N{emorandum Circular No. 19, Series

of 2O1,6.The Company urill contin,.e to adopt best practices in Corporate Govemance as may be prescribed

by the Commission.
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PART V. EXHIBIT AND SCIDDUI,ES

Item 14. Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form 17-A

Exbibits linnfiorated b'r nfennce in lbb rubonl

Exhibit 9" : Audited Financial Statements and Schedules

Exhibit "2" : Sustainability Report

Repots on .\'EC Fonn l7-C ftbnryb ofrcial dischsuvs uitb th .\'EC and tbe P.\'E)

The Company filed the followiog reports on SEC Form l7-C
31 December 2024.

during the ye$ ended

J*rr.y 2,2024 Th ree-Year Investment Strategy

February'5,2021 Declaration of Cash Dividends - 5 P ebruary 2024

NIarch 6,2024 Resignation of Maryknoll B. Zanon and Appointment of Cecille Maric
H. Bernardo a^s Chief Finance Officet, Treasurer, and Chief Risk
Officer.

Match7,2024 Ust of Principal ()fficers

Nlarch 13,2024 VFund lV[anagement, Inc. 4Q 202j Quatedy Repott

/lpril14,2024 Declaration of Cash DMdends - 14 Apfl2o24

NIay 3,2424 Calling of the Annual Stockholders' Meeting

VFund Managemeng Inc. 1Q 2024 Qrateily ReportNla,v 15,2024

Declaration of Cash Dividends - 27 May 2024May 27,2024

June 17,2024 Results of r\nnual Stockholders' Meeting dated 17 Jurc 2024

June 17,2024 Rcsults of Organizational Mccting hcld on 17 Jtne 2A24

August 14,2024 VFund Management, Inc. 2Q 2024 Quanedy Report

Declaratjon of Cash Dividends - 29 Augast2024Augu.st 29,2024

October 1.1 ,2024 Resignati<ln <-rf Business Devel<.rpment Head

\/Fund Management, Inc. 3Q 2024 Quaterly ReportNovembet 14,2024

Declaration of Cash Dividends - 28 November 2024November 28,2024

Three-Year Invcstment StratcgyDccembcr 29,2024

REPORTSDATE
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DISCLOSURES FOR REIT COMPANIES
Parsuant to Sation 6.2 of the Annnded ListingRtlesforRE(T

Summary of Real Estate Transaction fot the year ended 31 Decembet 2024

On 31 May 2022, the Company and Sponsors executcd a dccd of assignment whcreas thc Sponsors ccde,

assign and Eansfer to the C<-rmpany, in a manner absolute and irrevocable, the parcels of land located in
Candanay, Siquijor, Lazi, Siquijor, Poro, Cebu and Pilar, Ccbu, induding thc buildings located in thc said

parccls of land, to thc REIT, in considcration for thc issuancc of REIT's sharcs. Thc property-for sharc

swap transaction, forming part of the capital increase of the REIT, was also approved by the SEC on May

31,2022. The requisite Certificates Authorizing Registration (CARs) authorizing the transfer of legal tide

to thc Properties from the Sponsots to thc Comparly werc issucd on Scptcmbct 2,2022, The parccls of
land include the land owned by the NPC to which the lease rightwas also assigned to the REIT as approved

by the NPC. The lease has an odginal term of 20 years with a tenewd option, subiect to mutud agteement

of both parties, and an escalation rate of 20oh every 6ve years. tsy virrue of the Properry-for-Share Swap,

the Sponsors acquired further confiol of the Company, through an aggregate ownership interest of 100%

of the total issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company.

The REIT did not enter into any real estate transactions, such as acquisitions and disposals, during the year

ended 31 December 2024.

of Red Estate Assets of the as of 31 December 2024

9,478 sq.m. 7 years 9,478 sq.m. 1000
Land - Candanay,

Siquiior
P1,154,210,000

3p00 sq.m 8 years 3,000 sq.m 100o/o
Land-Lazi,

Siquiior
P1,059,250,000

353.2 sq.m. 8 years 353.2 sq.m. 1000h
Building -

Candanay, Siquiior
P107,910,000

607 sq.m

I
8,468 sq.m.

7O0o/u

'l,o00h

P961,520,000

P1,605,500,000

607 sq.m

8,468 sq.m.

8 .vears

I
9 1'ears

Powerplant Assets

- Candanay

Land - Pt-rro,

Cebu

of

P1,712,590,000
7,938.5 sq.m. 9 years

7,938.5

sq.m.
100%Land - Pilar, Cebu

tsuilding -Poro,
Cebu

P1,333,600,000
577,3 s<1.m. 9 years 577.3 sq.m. 700%

P941,360,000
244 sq.m 9 years 244 sq.m 10oo/o

Building - Pilar,
Cebu

WALEPROPERTIES

P erties
SIPCOR

CA.r\IPCOR Propertics

APPRAISAL AS

oF 3l
DECEMBER,

2021

GROSS
LEASABLE

AREA
(GI-A)

LEASED
AREA

OCCUPANCY
RATE
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SIGNATURES

lrrsuaot to the requiremeas of tie Secutiucs Rcguratioo code, the tsuet bas dury caused thisleport to be siglrcd oa its behalf by the uadasigaed hercuoto duly authorized"

PREMIERE ISI.AND POWER REIT
COR}ORATION

Issuer

Sectetary

15 AFil2025

Date

Matie H. Bernatdo
aod Chief Finaoce

!
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Name Competent Evidence
of Identity

Date & Place of Issue

Timothy Joseph M. Mendoza

Cecille Matie H. Bernardo

Caren Kay Adolfo

SUBSCRIBED AND S!7ORN to before me this
affrart exhibiting to me his/her valid ID, as follows

g+-+++-2015-, i. MAKATI GITY

#:-\i?-
Series 2025.

ATTY. MIKHAIL

MCt.E

R. FABIO III
IN MAKATI CITY

NO. M 326 DECEMBER 31,2025

No. MKI 10471129 / / MAKATI CITY

IBP NO. Roll No.81066

No. 14,2025
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders 

Premiere Island Power REIT Corporation 

(A Subsidiary of S.I. P0wer Corp.) 

4th Starmall IT Hub CV Starr Ave. 

Philamlife Pamplona Dos Las Piñas 

Las Piñas City 

 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Opinion 
 

We have audited the financial statements of Premiere Island Power REIT Corporation  

(the REIT), which comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2024 and 

2023, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and 

statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and for the period 

March 4, 2022 to December 31, 2022 and notes to the financial statements, including material 

accounting policy information. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 

the financial position of the REIT as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and its financial 

performance and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, and for the 

period March 4, 2022 to December 31, 2022 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting 

Standards (PFRS Accounting Standards). 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA).  Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for 

the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the REIT  

in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines  

(Code of Ethics) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audits of the 

financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities  

in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics.  We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Key Audit Matters 

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 

significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period.  These matters  

were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in  

forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 

Valuation of Investment Properties 

 

Description of the Matter 

 

The REIT’s investment properties, which relate to certain parcels of land, buildings and  

right-of-use asset, is carried in the financial statements at fair value model. 

 

The fair value of investment properties was determined by an independent appraiser using  

the income approach, which measures the fair value of an asset by calculating the present 

value of its economic benefits by discounting the expected cash flows at a rate of return  

that compensates the risks associated with a particular investment. The total fair value of 

investment properties as of December 31, 2024 is P7.9 billion, representing 81% of the total 

assets of the REIT.  The valuation of investment properties is a key audit matter because of  

the significance of the amount involved and because the measurement involves the application 

of significant judgments and estimates. 

 

The significant judgments applied and estimates used in measuring fair value are more fully 

described in Note 3 to the financial statements, while the methods used are fully described in 

Note 19 to the financial statements. 

 

How the Matter was Addressed in the Audit 

 

We have evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the appraiser by obtaining 

an understanding of their qualifications, experience and track record.  We have also involved 

our internal valuation specialists in evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation models and 

the reasonableness of key assumptions used, such as the discount rate and growth rate used 

to estimate projected revenues to be generated, and costs and expenses to be incurred related 

to operations.  We have also tested the completeness and accuracy of key inputs used such as 

the lease rates and lease terms by agreeing the samples to supporting lease contracts. 

 

Revenue Recognition on Rental of Investment Properties 

 

Description of the matter 

 

In 2024, the REIT recognized revenue from rental of investment properties amounting to 

P695.6 million.  Rental income on long-term leases is recognized on a straight-line basis  

over the term of the lease.  

 

We identified the revenue recognition from rentals as significant to our audit due to the inherent 

risk of material misstatement involved and the materiality of the amount of rental revenue  

and related receivables.  An error in the REIT’s understanding of the significant terms and 

conditions of the lease agreements and accounting treatment may result in error in revenue 

recognition i.e., overstatement or understatement of the reported rental revenues and the 

related receivables recognized therefrom. 
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The REIT’s disclosures relating to revenues from rentals are disclosed in Notes 7, 10 and 16. 

  

How the Matter was Addressed in the Audit 

 

Our audit procedures to address the risk of material misstatement relating to recognition of 

revenue from rentals include inspecting the lease agreements entered into with the REIT’s 

lessees, and understanding the significant terms and conditions affecting the recognition of 

rental income, as disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements.  We determined, based on 

the significant terms and conditions of the lease agreements, whether the recognition of rental 

income is in compliance with the revenue recognition and measurement requirements under 

PFRS 16, Leases.  We recomputed the amounts of rental income and the related receivables 

taking into consideration, among others, the lease payments, lease terms, periodic rent 

escalations, and effect of any lease modifications; and, we have verified whether rental income 

related to the existing lease agreements have been recognized in the proper accounting period. 

 

Other Information 

 

Management is responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the 

information included in the REIT’s Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Form 20-IS 

(Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year ended 

December 31, 2024, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’ report 

thereon.  The SEC Form 20-IS, SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year ended 

December 31, 2024, are expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ 

report. 

 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether  

the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 

Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 

in accordance with PFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the REIT’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends  

to liquidate the REIT or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the REIT’s financial reporting 

process. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as  

a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with PSA will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for  

one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the REIT’s internal control. 

 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the REIT’s ability  

to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 

required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions 

are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.  However, 

future events or conditions may cause the REIT to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied  

with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all 

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence 

and, where applicable, related safeguards. 
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 

matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current 

period and are therefore the key audit matters.  We describe these matters in our auditors’ 

report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 

extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in  

our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected  

to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial 

statements taken as a whole.  The supplementary information for the year ended December 31, 

2024 required by the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) as disclosed in Note 24 to the financial 

statements is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not required part of the basic 

financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS Accounting Standards.  Such 

supplementary information is the responsibility of management.  The supplementary information 

has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 

statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic 

financial statements taken as a whole. 

 

The engagement partner on the audits resulting in this independent auditors’ report is  

Renan A. Piamonte. 

 

 

      PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO 

 

 

 

 

 

 By: Renan A. Piamonte 

  Partner 

   

  CPA Reg. No. 0107805 

  TIN 221-843-037 

  PTR No. 10465913, January 2, 2025, Makati City 

  BIR AN 08-002511-037-2022 (until October 13, 2025) 

  BOA/PRC Cert. of Reg. No. 0002/P-010 (until August 12, 2027) 

   

 

      April 15, 2025 

 



Notes 2024 2023

A  S  S  E  T  S

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash 4  891,662  P                51,889,838  P           

Trade receivables 5 889,500,954               1,051,325,057          

Prepayments and other current assets                 55,012,509   42,959,052               

Total Current Assets  945,405,125              1,146,173,947          

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property and equipment - net 6 961,520,000               934,480,000             

Investment properties 7 7,914,420,000            7,784,490,000          

Total Non-current Assets  8,875,940,000           8,718,970,000          

TOTAL ASSETS  9,821,345,125  P       9,865,143,947  P      

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 8  138,665,894  P          192,401,958  P         

Due to related parties 13  322,655,398              509,891,645             

Lease liabilities 9  408,491                    381,908                   

Total Current Liabilities  461,729,783              702,675,511             

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Lease liabilities 9  5,411,452                  5,819,943                 

Deferred tax liabilities - net 12  112,895,217              58,705,012               

Total Non-current Liabilities  118,306,669              64,524,955               

Total Liabilities  580,036,452              767,200,466             

EQUITY

Capital stock 14  3,288,669,000           3,288,669,000          

Additional paid-in-capital 14  5,328,952,851           5,328,952,851          

Revaluation reserves - net 6  137,936,681              79,018,554               

Retained earnings 14  485,750,141              401,303,076             

Total Equity  9,241,308,673           9,097,943,481          

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  9,821,345,125  P       9,865,143,947  P      

See Notes to Financial Statements.

PREMIERE ISLAND POWER REIT CORPORATION

(A Subsidiary of S.I. P0wer Corp.)
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)



2024 2023 2022

Notes (One Year) (One Year) (Ten Months)

RENTAL INCOME 10  695,609,311  P          643,814,022  P          355,161,394  P         

COSTS OF RENTALS 11  85,846,407                70,763,428                40,701,197               

GROSS PROFIT  609,762,904              573,050,594              314,460,197             

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 11  6,949,610                  4,660,730                  11,502,749               

OPERATING PROFIT  602,813,294              568,389,864              302,957,448             

OTHER INCOME (CHARGES) - Net

Fair value gain (loss) on investment properties 7  86,511,514                 213,520,000             191,960,000 )(             

Finance cost 9 411,551 )(                    434,898 )(                    269,912 )(                    

Finance income 4  4,506                        6,051                         1,202                        

 86,104,469                213,091,153             192,228,710 )(             

PROFIT BEFORE TAX  688,917,763              781,481,017              110,728,738             

TAX INCOME (EXPENSE) 12 32,905,682 )(              77,471,471 )(                28,500,338               

NET PROFIT  656,012,081               704,009,546              139,229,076             

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Item that will not be reclassified subsequently

to profit or loss

Revaluation increase in property and equipment - net 6  85,142,383                89,441,268                16,911,604               

Tax expense 12 21,285,596 )(              22,360,317 )(               4,227,901 )(                 

 63,856,787                67,080,951                12,683,703               

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  719,868,868  P          771,090,497  P          151,912,779  P         

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 15  0.20  P                      0.21  P                      0.06  P                     

See Notes to Financial Statements.

(A Subsidiary of S.I. P0wer Corp.)

PREMIERE ISLAND POWER REIT CORPORATION

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

 FOR THE PERIOD MARCH 4, 2022 TO DECEMBER 31, 2022

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 AND

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME



Additional Revaluation Retained 

Capital Stock Paid-in Capital Reserves Earnings

(See Note 14) (See Note 14) (See Note 6) (See Note 14) Total

Balance at January 1, 2024  3,288,669,000  P      5,328,952,851  P      79,018,554  P           401,303,076  P         9,097,943,481  P     

Dividends declared  -    -    -   576,503,676 )(            576,503,676 )(            

Transfer depreciation to retained earnings  -    -   4,938,660 )(                 4,938,660                 -   

Total comprehensive income for the year  -    -    63,856,787               656,012,081             719,868,868            

Balance at December 31, 2024  3,288,669,000  P      5,328,952,851  P      137,936,681  P         485,750,141  P         9,241,308,673  P     

Balance at January 1, 2023  3,288,669,000  P      5,328,952,851  P      12,683,703  P           137,229,076  P         8,767,534,630  P     

Dividends declared  -    -    -   440,681,646 )(            440,681,646 )(            

Transfer depreciation to retained earnings  -    -   746,100 )(                    746,100                    -   

Total comprehensive income for the year  -    -    67,080,951               704,009,546             771,090,497            

Balance at December 31, 2023  3,288,669,000  P      5,328,952,851  P      79,018,554  P           401,303,076  P         9,097,943,481  P     

Balance at March 4, 2022 P            -             P            -             P            -             P            -             P            -             

Issuances of shares of stock  3,288,669,000           5,328,952,851           -    -    8,617,621,851          

Dividends declared  -    -    -   2,000,000 )(                2,000,000 )(                

Total comprehensive income for the period  -    -    12,683,703               139,229,076             151,912,779            

Balance at December 31, 2022  3,288,669,000  P      5,328,952,851  P      12,683,703  P           137,229,076  P         8,767,534,630  P     

See Notes to Financial Statements.

PREMIERE ISLAND POWER REIT CORPORATION

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

 FOR THE PERIOD MARCH 4, 2022 TO DECEMBER 31, 2022

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

(A Subsidiary of S.I. P0wer Corp.)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 AND



2024 2023 2022
Notes (One Year) (One Year) (Ten Months)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax  688,917,763  P          781,481,017  P          110,728,738  P         

Adjustments for

Fair value loss (gain) on investment properties 7 86,511,514 )(               213,520,000 )(              191,960,000             

Depreciation 6  58,102,383                52,541,268                30,071,604               

Finance cost 9  411,551                      434,898                     269,912                    

Finance income 4 4,506 )(                       6,051 )(                       1,201 )(                       

Operating profit before working capital changes  660,915,677              620,931,132              333,029,053             

Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables  161,824,103              658,938,603 )(             392,386,454 )(             

Increase in prepayments and other current assets 12,054,315 )(               42,354,099 )(               585,977 )(                    

Increase in trade and other payables  6,527,973                  72,427,503                51,556,244               

Cash generated from (used in) operations  817,213,438              7,934,067 )(                 8,387,134 )(                 

Interest received 4  4,506                         6,051                         961                           

Income tax paid 214 )(                          8,718,662 )(                 240 )(                          

Net Cash From (Used in) Operating Activities  817,217,730              16,646,678 )(               8,386,413 )(                 

CASH FLOWS FROM AN INVESTING ACTIVITY

Acquisitions of investment properties 7 43,418,486 )(               -    -   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid 14 636,767,714 )(             380,417,608 )(             2,000,000 )(                 

Advances received from (paid to) related parties 13 187,236,247 )(              445,263,922              15,132,290               

Interest paid 9 411,551 )(                    434,898 )(                    125,588 )(                    

Payment of lease liability 9 381,908 )(                   500,189 )(                     -   

Proceeds from issuance of shares 14  -    -    5,000                        

Net Cash From (Used in) Financing Activities 824,797,420 )(             63,911,227                13,011,702               

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 50,998,176 )(               47,264,549                  4,625,289                   

CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD  51,889,838                4,625,289                  -   

CASH AT END OF PERIOD  891,662  P                 51,889,838  P            4,625,289  P             

See Notes to Financial Statements.

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

Supplemental Information in Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities is disclosed in Note 23 to the Financial Statements.

PREMIERE ISLAND POWER REIT CORPORATION

(A Subsidiary of S.I. P0wer Corp.)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 AND

 FOR THE PERIOD MARCH 4, 2022 TO DECEMBER 31, 2022

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS



PREMIERE ISLAND POWER REIT CORPORATION 

(A Subsidiary of S.I. P0wer Corp.) 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2024, 2023 AND 2022 

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos) 
 
 
 

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

1.1 Corporate Information 
 

Premiere Island Power REIT Corporation (the REIT) was incorporated under  
Philippine law on March 4, 2022 under the name of Premiere Island Philippines Holding 
Corporation (PIPHC).  Under its articles on incorporation, PIPHC is authorized to  
invest in, purchase, or otherwise acquire and own, sell, assign, transfer, mortgage, pledge, 
exchange, or otherwise dispose of real property and personal property of every kind and 
description.  Since its incorporation on March 4, 2022, PIPHC did not have any business 
operation until the property-for-share swap transaction with Camotes Island Power 
Generation Corporation and S.I. P0wer Corp. (CAMPCOR and SIPCOR, respectively; 
the Sponsors, collectively) (see Note 14). 

 
On June 24, 2022, the Board of Directors (BOD) approved certain amendments to the 
Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws, including: (a) changing the corporate name to  
Premiere Island Power REIT Corporation; and, (b) changing the REIT’s primary  
purpose to engage in the business of a real estate investment trust as provided under  
Republic Act (R.A.) No. 9856, The Real Estate Investment Trust Act of 2009 (the REIT Act), 
including its implementing rules and regulations, and other applicable laws.  The 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) approved the amendments on November 9, 
2022. 
 
The REIT listed its common shares in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) as a power 
REIT on December 15, 2022 (see Note 14.1).  
 
SIPCOR (the Parent Company) holds 25.71% interest over the REIT while 
CAMPCOR holds 25.39%.  SIPCOR also owns 93.68% of CAMPCOR.  Accordingly, 
SIPCOR effectively holds 49.50% of the REIT’s total issued and outstanding capital 
stock, making SIPCOR as the majority stockholder and the REIT’s parent company.  
SIPCOR and CAMPCOR are both presently engaged in buying, acquiring, leasing, 
constructing, maintaining, and operating plants, work, systems, poles, poles wire, 
conduit, ducts and subway for the production, supply, distribution and sale of 
electricity. 
 
Prime Asset Ventures, Inc. (PAVI or the Ultimate Parent) is the REIT’s ultimate 
parent company.  PAVI is presently engaged primarily to invest in, purchase or 
otherwise acquire and own, hold, use, sell, assign, transfer, lease, mortgage, pledge, 
exchange, develop or otherwise, dispose of real and personal property of every kind, 
and to grant loans and/or assume or undertake or guarantee or secure either on its 
general credit or on the mortgage, pledge, deed of trust, assignment and/or other 
security arrangement of any or all of its property, its related parties or any third party, 
without engaging in the business of a financing company or lending investor. 
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The registered office address and principal place of business of the REIT, PAVI, 
SIPCOR and CAMPCOR is located at 4th Starmall IT Hub CV Starr Ave., Philamlife 
Pamplona Dos Las Piñas, Las Piñas City. 
 
1.2 Approval of the Financial Statements 
 
The financial statements of the REIT as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024 
(including the comparative financial statements as of and for the year ended  
December 31, 2023 and for the period March 4, 2022 to December 31, 2022)  
were authorized for issue by the REIT’s BOD on April 15, 2025. 

 

 

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
 

The material accounting policy information that have been used in the preparation  
of these financial statements are summarized below and in the succeeding pages.  
These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless 
otherwise stated. 

 
2.1 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements 
 

(a) Statement of Compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards  
 

The financial statements of the REIT have been prepared in accordance  
with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS Accounting Standards).  
PFRS Accounting Standards are adopted by the Financial and Sustainability 
Reporting Standards Council (FSRSC) from the pronouncements issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board and approved by the Philippine 
Board of Accountancy.   

 
The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases 
specified by PFRS Accounting Standards for each type of asset, liability, 
income, and expense.  The measurement bases are more fully described in  
the accounting policies that follow. 
 

(b) Presentation of Financial Statements 
 

The financial statements are presented in accordance with Philippine Accounting 
Standard (PAS) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements.  The REIT presents all items 
of income, expense and other comprehensive income or loss in a single 
statement of comprehensive income. 
 
The REIT presents a third statement of financial position as of the beginning  
of the preceding period when it applies an accounting policy retrospectively, or 
makes a retrospective restatement or reclassification of items that has a material 
effect on the information in the statement of financial position at the beginning  
of the preceding period.  The related notes to the third statement of financial 
position are not required to be disclosed. 
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(c) Functional and Presentation Currency 
 

These financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the REIT’s 
presentation and functional currency, and all values represent absolute  
amounts except when otherwise indicated. 
 
Items included in the financial statements of the REIT are measured using the 
REIT’s functional currency.  Functional currency is the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the REIT operates. 

 

2.2 Adoption of Amended PFRS Accounting Standards 
 

(a) Effective in 2024 that are Relevant to the REIT 
 

The REIT adopted for the first time the following amendments to PFRS 
Accounting Standards, which are mandatorily effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2024: 

  
 PAS 1 (Amendments) : Presentation of Financial Statements – 
    Classification of Liabilities as Current 

or Non-current, and Non-current 
Liabilities with Covenants 

 
 PAS 7 and PFRS 7   

  (Amendments) : Statement of Cash Flows, and Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures – Supplier 
Finance Arrangements 

 
 PFRS 16 (Amendments) : Leases – Lease Liability in a Sale and 

Leaseback 
 

Discussed below are the relevant information about these pronouncements. 
 

(i) PAS 1 (Amendments), Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-current.  The amendments provide guidance on 
whether a liability should be classified as either current or non-current.  
The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or 
non-current should be based on rights that are in existence at the end  
of the reporting period and that the classification is unaffected by 
expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer 
settlement of a liability.  The application of these amendments had no 
significant impact on the REIT’s financial statements. 
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(ii) PAS 1 (Amendments), Presentation of Financial Statements – Non-current 
Liabilities with Covenants.  The amendments specifies that if the right to 
defer settlement for at least 12 months is subject to an entity complying 
with conditions after the reporting period, then those conditions would 
not affect whether the right to defer settlement exists at the end of the 
reporting period for the purposes of classifying a liability as current or 
non-current.  For non-current liabilities subject to conditions, an entity is 
required to disclose information about the conditions, whether the entity 
would comply with the conditions based on its circumstances at the 
reporting date and whether and how the entity expects to comply with  
the conditions by the date on which they are contractually required to be 
tested.  The application of these amendments had no significant impact  
on the REIT’s financial statements. 

 
(iii) PAS 7 and PFRS 7 (Amendments), Statement of Cash Flows, Financial 

Instruments: Disclosures – Supplier Finance Arrangements. The amendments add 
a disclosure objective to PAS 7 stating that an entity is required to disclose 
information about its supplier finance arrangements that enables users of 
financial statements to assess the effects of those arrangements on the 
entity’s liabilities and cash flows.  In addition, PFRS 7 is amended to add 
supplier finance arrangements as an example within the requirements to 
disclose information about an entity’s exposure to concentration of 
liquidity risk.  The application of these amendments had no significant 
impact on the REIT’s financial statements. 

 
(iv) PFRS 16 (Amendments), Leases – Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback.  

The amendment requires a seller-lessee to subsequently measure lease 
liabilities arising from a leaseback in a way that it does not recognize any 
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains.  The 
new requirements do not prevent a seller-lessee from recognizing in profit 
or loss any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of a lease.  
The REIT has no sale and leaseback transactions. 

 
(b) Effective Subsequent to 2024 but not Adopted Early 

 
There are amendments to existing standards effective for annual periods 
subsequent to 2024, which are adopted by the FSRSC.  Management will 
adopt the following relevant pronouncements in accordance with their 
transitional provisions; and none of these are expected to have significant 
impact on the REIT’s financial statements: 

 
(i) PAS 21 (Amendments), The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange  

Rates – Lack of Exchangeability (effective from January 1, 2025) 
 
(ii) PFRS 9 and PFRS 7 (Amendments), Financial Instruments, and Financial 

Instruments: Disclosures – Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of 
Financial Instruments (effective from January 1, 2026) 
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(iii) PFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements (effective from  
January 1, 2027).  The new standard impacts the classification of profit or 
loss items (i.e., into operating, investing and financing categories) and the 
presentation of subtotals in the statement of profit or loss (i.e., operating 
profit and profit before financing and income taxes).  The new standard 
also changes the aggregation and disaggregation of information presented 
in the primary financial statements and in the notes.  It also introduces 
required disclosures about management-defined performance measures.  
The standard, however, does not affect how an entity recognizes and 
measures its financial condition, financial performance and cash flows. 
 

2.3 Financial Instruments 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the REIT becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.   

 

(a) Financial Assets 
 
 Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on their trade date  
 (i.e., the date that the REIT commits to purchase or sell the asset). 
 

Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets 
 
The REIT’s financial assets include financial assets at amortized costs such as 
Cash and Trade Receivables. 
 
Impairment of Financial Assets 
 
The REIT applies a general approach in relation to its trade receivables, which 
relate to receivables from related parties.  The maximum period over which 
ECL should be measured is the longest contractual period where an entity is 
exposed to credit risk.  In the case of these receivables, the contractual period is 
the very short period needed to transfer the cash once demanded or when the 
receivables fall due.  Management determines possible impairment based on  
the sufficiency of the related parties’ highly liquid assets in order to repay the 
REIT’s receivables if demanded at the reporting date taking into consideration 
the historical defaults of the related parties.  If the REIT cannot immediately 
collect the receivables, management considers the expected manner of recovery 
to measure ECL.  If the recovery strategies indicate that the outstanding 
balance of the receivables can be collected, the ECL is limited to the effect of 
discounting the amount due over the period until cash is realized which may 
prove to be negligible. 
 

(b) Financial Liabilities 
 

Financial liabilities includes Trade and Other Payables (except tax-related liabilities), 
Lease Liabilities and Due to Related Parties. 
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2.4 Property and Equipment 
 

Property and equipment, are carried at revalued amount which is the fair value at the 
date of the revaluation, as determined by independent appraiser, less subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.   
 
Revalued amount is the fair market value determined based on appraisal by external 
professional appraiser once every two years or more frequently if market factors 
indicate a material change in fair value. 
 
Depreciation of property and equipment (comprising of generation assets) is computed 
on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 18 years. 
 
2.5 Investment Properties 

 

Properties held for lease under operating lease agreements, which comprise mainly of 
land and buildings are classified as Investment Properties. 
 

Investment properties are accounted for under the fair value model.  They are revalued 
annually and are reported in the statement of financial position at its fair value.  Fair 
value is based on the income approach and is determined annually by an independent 
appraiser with sufficient experience with respect to both the location and the nature of 
the investment properties.   

 
2.6 Leases 

 
(a) REIT as Lessee 
 

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments 
made and increased for interest. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or  
modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments. 

 

The REIT has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value  
assets using the practical expedients, when applicable.  Instead of recognizing  
a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are 
recognized as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. 

 

(b) REIT as Lessor 
 

The REIT applies judgment in determining whether a lease contract is a finance 

or operating lease. 

 

 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

  

 The preparation of the REIT’s financial statements in accordance with PFRS 
Accounting Standards requires management to make judgments and estimates that 
affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and related notes.  Judgments 
and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.  Actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates. 
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3.1 Critical Management Judgment in Applying Accounting Policies 
 

In the process of applying the REIT’s accounting policies, management has made  
the following judgments, apart from those involving estimation, which have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements.   
 

(a) Determination of Lease Term of Contracts with Renewal and Termination Options  
 

In determining the lease term, management considers all relevant factors and 
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise a renewal option  
or not exercise a termination option.  Renewal options and/or periods after 
termination options are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably 
certain to be extended or not terminated and the renewal of the contract is not 
subject to mutual agreement of both parties. 
 
 

The factors that are normally the most relevant are (a) if there are significant 
penalties should the REIT pre-terminate the contract, and (b) if any leasehold 
improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the REIT is 
reasonably certain to extend and not to terminate the lease contract.  Otherwise, 
the REIT considers other factors including historical lease durations and the 
costs and business disruption required to replace the leased asset. 
 
The REIT did not include the renewal period as part of the lease term for the 
lease due to the provision in its contract that requires mutual agreement of 
both parties on the terms and agreements of the renewal and termination of the 
lease contract.   
 
The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised or not exercised  
or the REIT becomes obliged to exercise or not exercise it.  The assessment of 
reasonable certainty is only revised if a significant event or a significant change 
in circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, and that is within the 
control of the REIT. 
 

(b) Distinction Among Investment Properties and Owner-occupied Properties  
 

The REIT determines whether a property should be classified as investment 
property or owner-occupied property.  The REIT applies judgment upon initial 
recognition of the asset based on intention and also when there is a change  
in use.  In making its judgment, the REIT considers whether the property 
generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets held by an entity.  
Owner-occupied properties generate cash flows that are attributable not only  
to property but also to other assets used in the production or supply process. 
 
When a property comprises of a portion that is held to earn rental or for capital 
appreciation and another portion that is held for use in the REIT’s main line  
of business or for administrative purposes, the REIT accounts for the portions 
separately if these portions can be sold separately (or leased out separately 
under finance lease).  If the portions cannot be sold separately, the property is 
accounted for as investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for 
use in the REIT’s main line of business or for administrative purposes.   
 
Judgment is applied in determining whether ancillary services are so significant 
that a property does not qualify as investment property.  The REIT considers 
each property separately in making its judgment. 
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(c) Distinction Between Operating and Finance Leases as Lessor 
 

The REIT has entered into various lease agreements as a lessor.  Critical 
judgment was exercised by management to distinguish the lease agreements  
as either an operating or finance lease by looking at the transfer or retention  
of significant risk and rewards of ownership of the properties covered by the 
agreements.  Failure to make the right judgment will result in either 
overstatement or understatement of assets and liabilities. 
 
Management has determined that its current lease agreements as lessor are 
operating leases. 
 

(d) Recognition of Provisions and Contingencies 
 

Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an 
outflow of economic resources and they can be estimated reliably even if the 
timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.  A present obligation 
arises from the presence of a legal or constructive obligation that has resulted 
from past events.  
 

Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish between provisions and 
contingencies.   
 

3.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources 
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next reporting period: 
 

(a) Fair Value Measurement of Investment Properties, and Property and Equipment 
 

The REIT’s investment properties, composed of right-of-use asset, land and 
buildings, are measured using the fair value model while the REIT’s property 
and equipment, composed of generation assets, are measured using revaluation 
model. In determining the fair value of these assets, the REIT engages the 
services of professional and independent appraisers applying the income 
approach. 
 

In determining the fair value under the income approach, significant estimates 
are made such as revenues generated, costs and expenses related to the 
operations and discount rate.  
 

A significant change in these elements may affect prices and the value of  
the assets.  The details of the fair values of relevant assets are disclosed in  
Notes 6, 7 and 19. 
 

For investment properties, and property and equipment, with valuation 
conducted prior to the end of the current reporting period, management 
determines whether there are significant circumstances during the intervening 
period that may require adjustments or changes in the disclosure of fair value 
of those properties. 
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(b) Estimation of Useful Lives of Property and Equipment 
 

The REIT estimates the useful lives of the property and equipment based on  
the period over which the assets are expected to be available-for-use.  The 
estimated useful lives of the property and equipment are reviewed periodically 
and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical 
wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence, and legal or other limits on 
the use of the assets. 
 

The carrying amounts of the property and equipment are analyzed in Note 6.   
Based on management’s assessment as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, there is 
no change in estimated useful lives of the property and equipment during those 
periods.  Actual results, however, may vary due to changes in estimates brought 
about by changes in factors mentioned above. 
 

(c) Estimation of Allowance for ECL 
 

The measurement of the allowance for ECL is an area that requires the use of 
significant assumptions about the future economic conditions and credit behavior 
(e.g., likelihood of customers/counterparties defaulting and the resulting losses).  
Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation used in measuring ECL is 
further detailed in Note 17.2(b). 
 

Based on management’s assessment, the outstanding balances of receivables as 
of December 31, 2024 and 2023 are fully collectible (see Note 5). 
 

(d) Impairment of Non-financial Assets 
 

The REIT’s Investment Properties, Property and Equipment and other  
non-financial assets are subject to impairment testing. 
 
In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of 
each asset or a cash-generating unit based on expected future cash flows  
and uses an interest rate to calculate the present value of those cash flows.  
Estimation uncertainties relates to assumptions about future operating results 
and the determination of suitable discount rate. 
 

Though management believes that the assumptions used in the estimation of 
fair values reflected in the financial statements are appropriate and reasonable, 
significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect the assessment 
of recoverable values and any resulting impairment loss could have a material 
adverse effect on the results of operations.   
 

There were no impairment losses on the REIT’s non-financial assets required 
to be recognized for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 based on 
management’s assessment. 
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4. CASH 

 
Cash in banks amounted to P0.9 million and P51.9 million as of December 31, 2024 
and 2023, respectively.   

 
Cash in banks generally earn interest based on daily bank deposit rates.  Interest  
income earned from cash in banks amounted to P4,506 in 2024, P6,051 in 2023 and 
P1,202 in 2022.  Interest earned is presented as Finance income under Other Income 
(Charges) – Net section in the statements of comprehensive income. 
 
 

5. TRADE RECEIVABLES 
 

This account as of December 31 is composed of the following: 
 

(Amounts in PHP) Note  2024  2023 

      
Trade receivables:      

Billed 13.1  736,640,406   943,982,983 
Accrued   152,860,548  107,342,074 

      
   889,500,954  1,051,325,057 

      
Billed receivables arise from the lease of land, building and generation assets by 
SIPCOR and CAMPCOR.   
 

Accrued receivables pertain to receivables resulting from the straight-line method of 
recognizing rental income. 

 
All trade receivables are subject to credit risk exposure.  However, there was  
no impairment losses recognized for the reporting periods presented as management 
believes that the remaining receivables are fully collectible [see Note 17.2(b)]. 
 
 

6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

 
The property and equipment of the REIT pertains to generation assets (see Note 14).  

 

The carrying amount of property and equipment as at December 31, 2024, 2023 and 
2022 is as follows: 

 

(Amounts in PHP)   
2024 

(One Year)  
2023 

(One Year)  
2022 

(Ten Months) 

        
Cost   934,480,000   897,580,000  910,740,000 
Depreciation   (58,102,383)  (52,541,268)  (30,071,604) 
Revaluation   85,142,383  89,441,268  16,911,604 

        
   961,520,000  934,480,000  897,580,000 

 
  



- 11 - 
 

The property and equipment is recognized under the revaluation model.  The 
revaluation surplus, net of applicable deferred income taxes, is presented as part of 
the Revaluation Reserves account in the equity section of the statements of financial 
position. 

 

The movements of the revaluation surplus are presented below. 
 

(Amounts in PHP)   
2024 

(One Year)  
2023 

(One Year)  
2022 

(Ten Months) 

        
Cost   79,018,554   12,683,703  - 
Revaluation   63,856,787  67,080,951  12,683,703 
Depreciation   (4,938,660)  (746,100)  - 

        
   137,936,681  79,018,554  12,683,703 

 

The REIT recognized income arising from the lease of generation assets to SIPCOR 
amounting to P52.7 million for both 2024 and 2023 and P30.8 million in 2022, and 
these are presented as part of Rental Income in the statements of comprehensive 
income (see Note 10).  The related outstanding receivable is presented as part of 
Trade Receivables in the statements of financial position (see Note 5). 

 
The depreciation expense is presented as part of Costs of Rentals in the statements of 
comprehensive income.   
 
In 2024 and 2023, the REIT transferred to Retained Earnings the depreciation of the 
revaluation surplus from prior year amounting to P4.9 million and P0.7 million, 
respectively. 
 
Under the cost model, the carrying value of the property and equipment amounted to  
P777.6 million and P829.1 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
The REIT did not have any fully depreciated property and equipment as of  
December 31, 2024 and 2023.  The information on the fair value measurement and 
disclosures related to the property and equipment are presented in Note 19.3. 
 
 

7. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
 

The REIT’s investment properties pertain to parcels of land located in Candanay, 
Siquijor, Lazi, Siquijor, Poro, Cebu and Pilar, Cebu, including the buildings located 
in the said parcels of land, (see Note 14), and the right-of-use asset on the lease right 
from the lease agreement with NPC (see Note 9). 
 
These parcels of land and buildings are recognized in reference to their fair values 
and the information on the fair value measurement and disclosures are presented in  
Note 19.3.   
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A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of investment properties as at  
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 is shown below. 
 

(Amounts in PHP) 

 

Land  

 

Buildings  

Right-of-use 

asset  

 

Total 

        

Balance as of        

December 31, 2023  4,254,240,000   2,315,860,000   1,214,390,000  7,784,490,000 

Additions 25,482,095  17,936,391  -  43,418,486 

Fair value gain (loss) 97,617,905  49,073,609  (60,180,000)  86,511,514 

        

Balances as of         

December 31, 2024 4,377,340,000  2,382,870,000  1,154,210,000  7,914,420,000 

        

Balances as of         

December 31, 2022  4,085,360,000   2,223,800,000  1,261,810,000   7,570,970,000 

Fair value gain (loss)  168,880,000  92,060,000  (47,420,000)  213,520,000 

        

Balance as of        

December 31, 2023  4,254,240,000   2,315,860,000   1,214,390,000   7,784,490,000 

        

Balance as of         

May 31, 2022 4,166,270,000  2,270,810,000  1,325,850,000  7,762,930,000 

Fair value loss (80,910,000)  (47,010,000)  (64,040,000)  (191,960,000) 

        

Balance as of        

December 31, 2022 4,085,360,000  2,223,800,000  1,261,810,000  7,570,970,000 

    
The fair values of the investment properties were determined by independent and  
SEC-accredited property appraisers.  The REIT’s management engaged with an  
appraiser and the amounts stated above are the fair values.  The fair value gain and  
loss on investment properties is presented under Other Income (Charges) – Net in the 
statements of comprehensive income.  
 
The REIT recognized income amounting to P642.9 million, P591.1 million and 
P324.4 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, from the lease of investment 
properties which is presented as part of Rental Income in the statements of 
comprehensive income (see Note 10).  The related outstanding receivables are 
presented as part of Trade Receivables in the statements of financial position (see 
Note 5). 
 
Expenses such as taxes and licenses and property management fees incurred in 
relation to the rental services are recognized as incurred and are presented as part of 
Costs of Rentals in the statements of comprehensive income (see Note 11). 
 

The REIT does not have contractual commitments for purchase of investment 

properties.  The operating lease commitments of the REIT as lessor are fully 

disclosed in Note 16.1. 
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8. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 

This account is composed of the following as of December 31: 
 

(Amounts in PHP)   2024  2023 

      
Deferred output VAT   78,925,758  97,394,687 
Accrued expenses   51,120,455  30,608,415 
VAT payable   7,711,583  3,057,534 
Dividends payable   -  60,264,038 
Others   908,098  1,077,284 

      
   138,665,894  192,401,958 

 
Deferred output VAT is recognized by the REIT for uncollected billings for rentals. 
This will be reclassified to output VAT payable and offset against input VAT, if any, 
once collected.   
 
Accrued expenses relate to unpaid administrative expenses as at year end. 
 
Others include payables to the government.  
 
 

9. LEASES 
 

In 2022, SIPCOR assigned the lease of the land situated in Candanay, Siquijor 
owned by the NPC (Candanay Property) to the REIT.  The lease has a term of  
20 years with renewal option, subject to mutual agreement of both parties, and an 
escalation rate of 20% every five years.  The assignment was approved by the NPC.  
The lease is either non-cancellable or may only be cancelled by incurring a 
substantive termination fee.  The lease allows the REIT to sublet the asset to 
another party, however, did not contain an option to purchase the underlying lease 
asset at the end of the lease. 
 

On April 11, 2022, the REIT entered into a sublease agreement with SIPCOR for the 
same Candanay Property for a term of eight years, recognizing the right-of-use asset 
which is presented as part of Investment Properties in the statements of financial 
position (see Note 7). 
 

Lease liability is presented in the statements of financial position as follows: 
 

(Amounts in PHP)   2024  2023 

      
Current   408,491  381,908 
Non-current   5,411,452  5,819,943 

      
   5,819,943  6,201,851 
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The movements in the lease liability recognized in the statements of financial position 
are as follows: 
 

(Amounts in PHP)   
2024 

(One Year)  
2023 

(One Year)  
2022 

(Ten Months) 

        
Balance at beginning of period   6,201,851  6,702,040  6,557,716 
Repayments   (793,459)  (935,087)  (125,588) 
Interest    411,551  434,898  269,912 

        
Balance at end of period   5,819,943  6,201,851  6,702,040 

 
Interest expense related to lease liability is reported as Finance cost under Other 
Income (Charges) – Net in the statements of comprehensive income. 
 

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the REIT has no commitments to leases 
which had not commenced. 
 
The maturity analysis of undiscounted lease liabilities as at December 31 are as 
follows: 

 
(Amounts in PHP)   2024  2023 

      
Within 1 year   813,600  813,600 
1 to 2 years   813,600  813,600 
2 to 3 years   813,600  813,600 
3 to 4 years   813,600  813,600 
4 to 5 years   976,320  813,600 
More than 5 years   3,905,280  4,881,600 

      
   8,136,000  8,949,600 

 
The cash outflow in respect of the lease for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 
December 31, 2023 amounted to P0.8 million and P0.9 million, respectively.   
 
 

10. RENTAL INCOME 
 

The REIT derives its rental income from the lease of its investment properties and 
property and equipment (see Notes 6 and 7), which commenced in June 2022.   
 
Rentals from these properties are based on agreed guaranteed annual base or the 
calculated variable rental based on the lessees’ revenues, whichever is higher.  In  
2024 and 2023, the agreed guaranteed annual base is higher than the variable base  
for all properties, except for the Candanay property and Lazi property (see Note 16). 
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The table below describes the lease agreements entered into by the REIT and their 
respective terms. 

 
  

 
Lease Term  

Renewable years 
Upon mutual 

agreement  

Variable rental 
rates based on 

lessees’ revenues 

      
Candanay property 8 years  10 years  26.59% 
Lazi property 9 years  10 years  8.41% 
SIPCOR building 9 years  10 years  0.50% 
SIPCOR generation assets 9 years  10 years  4.50% 
CAMPCOR land 10 years  10 years  15.00% 
CAMPCOR building 10 years  10 years  10.00% 

 
The rental income derived from such leases amounted to P695.6 million,  
P643.8 million and P355.2 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  Breakdown 
of rental income reported in the statements of comprehensive income is shown 
below. 
 

(Amounts in PHP)   
2024 

(One Year)  
2023 

(One Year)  
2022 

(Ten Months) 

        
Rental income from SIPCOR:        

Right-of-use asset   247,306,487  207,956,866  105,400,099 
Land    78,219,163  65,773,495  33,879,160 
Generation assets (presented as 
property and equipment) 

  
52,719,971  52,719,971  30,753,317 

Building   5,916,074  5,916,074  3,451,042 

        
   384,161,695  332,366,406  173,483,618 

        
Rental income from CAMPCOR:        

Land   184,766,973  184,766,973  107,780,736 
Building   126,680,643  126,680,643  73,897,040 

        
   311,447,616  311,447,616  181,677,776 

        
   695,609,311  643,814,022  355,161,394 

        
The REIT’s rental income are generated from the following assets and geographical 
regions: 

 

(Amounts in PHP) Land  Buildings  
Right-of-use 

asset  
Generation 

assets  Total 

          
2024 (One Year):          

Siquijor 78,219,163  5,916,074  247,306,487  52,719,971  384,161,695 
Cebu 184,766,973  126,680,643  -  -  311,447,616 

          
 262,986,136  132,596,717  247,306,487  52,719,971  695,609,311 

          
2023 (One Year):          

Siquijor 65,773,495  5,916,074  207,956,866  52,719,971  332,366,406 
Cebu 184,766,973  126,680,643  -  -  311,447,616 

          
 250,540,468  132,596,717  207,956,866  52,719,971  643,814,022 

          
2022 (Ten Months):          
 Siquijor 33,879,160  3,451,042  105,400,099  30,753,317  173,483,618 
 Cebu 107,780,736  73,897,040  -  -  181,677,776 

          
 141,659,896  77,348,082  105,400,099  30,753,317  355,161,394 
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As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the rental receivable amounted to P889.5 million 
and P1,051.3 million, respectively, which is reported as Trade Receivables in the 
statements of financial position (see Note 5). 

 

 
11. COSTS AND OPERATING EXPENSES 

 

The details of this account are shown below. 
 

(Amounts in PHP) Notes  

2024 
(One Year)  

2023 
(One Year)  

2022 
(Ten Months) 

        

Depreciation 6  58,102,383  52,541,268  30,071,604 
Property and fund  

management fees 7 

 

20,554,430  18,222,160  10,629,593 
Taxes and licenses 7  9,620,493  238,877  4,932,869 
Professional fees   2,190,920  1,572,897   3,171,103 
General and administrative   841,355  1,099,680  2,446,711 
Miscellaneous   1,486,436  1,749,276  952,066 
        
   92,796,017  75,424,158  52,203,946 

 
These expenses are classified in the statements of comprehensive income as follows: 

 

(Amounts in PHP)   
2024 

(One Year)  
2023 

(One Year)  
2022 

(Ten Months) 

        
Cost of rentals   85,846,407  70,763,428  40,701,197 
Operating expenses   6,949,610  4,660,730  11,502,749 

        
   92,796,017  75,424,158  52,203,946 

 
 

12. INCOME TAXES 
 
The components of tax expense (income) as reported in the statements of 

comprehensive income are as follows: 

 

(Amounts in PHP)   
2024 

(One Year)  
2023 

(One Year)  
2022 

(Ten Months) 

        
Reported in profit or loss:        

Current tax expense:        
Final tax at 20%   1,073  1,441  240 
Regular corporate income 

tax at 25% 
  

-  8,717,221  8,135,437 

   1,073  8,718,662  8,135,677 

        
Deferred tax arising from  

origination of temporary 
differences 

  

32,904,609  68,752,809  (36,636,015) 

        
   32,905,682  77,471,471  (28,500,338) 
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(Amounts in PHP)   
2024 

(One Year)  
2023 

(One Year)  
2022 

(Ten Months) 

        
Reported in other comprehensive income –        

Deferred tax arising from  
recognition of revaluation 
surplus 

  

21,285,596  22,360,317  4,227,901 

 
A reconciliation of tax on pretax profit or loss computed at the applicable statutory 
rates to tax expense or income reported in the statements of comprehensive income 
for the periods ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 is as follows: 

 

(Amounts in PHP)   
2024 

(One Year)  
2023 

(One Year)  
2022 

(Ten Months) 

        
Tax on pretax profit at 25%   172,229,441  195,370,254  27,682,185 
Tax effects of:        

Dividends from distributable 
income 

  (125,392,106)  (117,898,783)  (56,250,000) 

Excess of optional standard 
deduction (OSD) over 
itemized deduction 

  

(13,931,653)  -  - 
Non-deductible expenses   -  -  67,297 

Adjustment for income subjected 
to lower income tax rate 

  
-  -  180 

        
   32,905,682  77,471,471  (28,500,338) 

  
The REIT claimed the dividends as tax deduction in its determination of income tax 
liability (see Notes 14 and 22).  As per Rule 10 of the REIT Act, REITs may deduct 
against taxable income any dividends distributed as of the end of the taxable year and 
on or before the last day of the fifth month of the next taxable year. 
 
The details of the net deferred tax liabilities as of December 31 is shown below. 
 

(Amounts in PHP)   2024  2023 

      
Revaluation surplus of property  

and equipment 
  

47,873,814  26,588,218 
Straight-lining of rental income   38,215,137  26,835,519 
Fair value gain on  

investment properties  
  

27,017,878  5,390,000 
Interest expense on lease liability   (211,612)  (108,725) 

      
Balance at end of the period   112,895,217  58,705,012 

 
The REIT claimed OSD in computing for its income tax due in 2024 and itemized 
deductions in 2023 and 2022. 
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13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The REIT’s related parties include the parent company, a related party under 
common ownership, and key management.  A summary of the REIT’s transactions 
and outstanding balances, if any, with its related parties is presented below. 
 

   Amount of Transactions  Outstanding Receivable (Payable) 

(Amounts in PHP) Notes  
2024 

(One Year)  
2023 

(One Year)  
2022 

(Ten Months)  2024  2023 

            
Parent Company:            

Rental income 5, 10, 
13.1  384,161,695  332,366,406  173,483,618  573,523,714  595,220,457 

Due to related party 13.2  60,613,265  54,977,600  64,086,279  (179,677,144)  (119,063,879) 
Lease liabilities 9  381,908  500,189  6,702,040  (5,819,943)  (6,201,851) 
            

Related party under 
common ownership:            

Rental income 5, 10, 
13.1  311,447,616  311,447,616  181,677,776  315,977,240  456,104,600 

Due to related party 13.2  (247,849,512)  390,286,322  541,444  (142,978,254)  (390,827,766) 
            

Key management 
personnel –             

Compensation 13.3  322,500  547,500  -  262,200  547,500 

 
13.1 Lease Agreements 
 

In 2022, the REIT entered into several operating lease agreements with SIPCOR  
and CAMPCOR (see Note 9).  
 
The rentals earned from the Lease Agreements are presented as Rental Income  
in the statements of comprehensive income (see Note 10).  The unsecured, 
noninterest-bearing outstanding balances related to such agreements are presented as 
part of Trade Receivables in the statements of financial position (see Noe 5). 
 
13.2 Due to Related Parties 

 

In the normal course of business, the REIT obtains cash advances from its parent 
company and a related party under common ownership for accommodation of 
certain expenses, working capital requirements and other purposes.   
 
The outstanding due to related parties presented in the statements of financial 
position as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 amounted to P322.7 million and  
P509.9 million, respectively.  Such balance have no fixed repayment terms and  
are unsecured, noninterest-bearing and generally payable in cash upon demand,  
or through offsetting arrangements with the related parties.   
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A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the Due to Related Parties is shown 
below. 
 

(Amounts in PHP)   2024  2023 

      
Parent Company:      
 Balance at beginning of year   119,063,879  64,086,279 
 Advances obtained   526,584,527  54,977,600 
 Repayments   (465,971,262)  - 

      
   179,677,144  119,063,879 

      
Related Party under Common Ownership:      
 Balance at beginning of year   390,827,766  541,444 
 Advances obtained   207,843,935  390,686,322 
 Repayments   (455,693,447)  (400,000) 

      
   142,978,254  390,827,766 

      
Balance at end of year   322,655,398  509,891,645 

 
13.3 Key Management Function 

 

Key management personnel compensation amounted to P0.3 million and  
P0.5 million in 2024 and 2023, respectively.  The unpaid balance as of December 31, 
2024 and 2023 is presented as part of Accrued expenses under Trade and Other 
Payables in the statements of financial position (see Note 8). 
 
 

14. EQUITY 
 

14.1 Capital Stock 
 

Capital stock consists of the following as of December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
 

   Shares  Amount in PHP 

      
Common shares      
Authorized   7,500,000,000  7,500,000,000 

      
Issued and outstanding   3,288,669,000  3,288,669,000 

 
On March 9, 2022, the REIT applied for the increase in authorized capital stock from  
P5,000 divided into 5,000 common shares with par value of P1.0 per share to  
P7.5 billion divided into 7,500,000,000 common shares with par value of P1.0 per 
share.  As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, a total number of 3,288,669,000 shares 
were fully issued and outstanding which amounted to P3.3 billion. 
 
Under the terms of the capital increase, the REIT shall issue a total of 3,288,664,000 
common shares to SIPCOR and CAMPCOR in exchange for the transfer, assignment 
and conveyance by SIPCOR and CAMPCOR of all their rights, title and interests in 
certain generation assets (see Note 6) and parcels of land and buildings situated 
thereat (see Note 7).  
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Pursuant to the capital increase and the property-for-share swap transaction, the 
REIT issued 1,654,856,000 common shares to SIPCOR and 1,633,808,000 common 
shares to CAMPCOR. The REIT recognized additional paid-in capital on the excess 
of the fair value of properties transferred over the par value of shares totalling to  
P5.3 billion, net of the stock issue costs totalling to P49.5 million, as a result of this 
transaction.  
 
Under the terms of the property-for-share swap transaction, the REIT, as a lessor  
and/or sublessor of the properties assigned by SIPCOR and CAMPCOR, executed 
lease and sublease agreements with each of SIPCOR and CAMPCOR to enable them 
to use the assigned properties for their continuing power generation operations. The 
property-for-share swap transaction, forming part of the capital increase of the REIT, 
was also approved by the SEC on May 31, 2022.  
 
On December 15, 2022, following the initial public offering of the REIT’s common 
shares, the shares of SIPCOR and CAMPCOR were reduced to 845,589,861 (25.71%) 
and 834,839,132 (25.39%) common shares, respectively. As at December 31, 2022, 
1,607,431,000 (48.88%) common shares are owned by the public and the remaining 
809,007 (0.02%) common shares are owned by REIT’s directors and officers.  
 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there are 3,627 holders and 2,904 holders, 
respectively, of at least one board lot of the listed shares, which closed at  
P2.21 per share for 2024 and P1.54 per share for 2023. 
 
14.2 Dividends 
 

During the year, the BOD approved the following dividends declaration from its 
unrestricted retained earnings payable to stockholders. 
 

Date of Declaration  Payment Date  
Cash Dividend 

per Share 
 Total  

(Amounts in PHP) 
       

2024       

       

February 5, 2024  March 12, 2024  0.0388  127,600,357 
April 14, 2024  May 13, 2024  0.0388  127,600,357 
May 27, 2024  June 28, 2024  0.0326  107,210,609 

August 29, 2024  September 27, 2024  0.0326  107,210,609 
November 28, 2024  December 27, 2024  0.0325  106,881,744 

       
      576,503,676 

2023       

       

April 28, 2023  May 26, 2023  0.0682  224,287,226 
June 22, 2023  July 17, 2023  0.0299  98,331,203 

September 8, 2023  September 29, 2023  0.0359  118,063,217 
       
      440,681,646 
       

2022       
       

July 11, 2022  August 29, 2022  0.01  2,000,000 
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Unpaid dividends amounting to P60.3 million as of December 31, 2023 is presented 
as part of Trade and Other Payables in the 2023 statement of financial position.  This 
has been paid in 2024.  There were no unpaid dividends as of December 31, 2024 
(see Note 8).  
 

14.3 Distributable Income 
 
The computation of the distributable income of the REIT for the periods ended 
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 is shown below. 

 

(Amounts in PHP) Notes  

2024 
(One Year)  

2023 
(One Year)  

2022 
(Ten Months) 

        

Net profit   656,012,081  704,009,546  139,229,076 
Fair value adjustment of 

investment property 
resulting to loss (gain) 7 

 

(86,511,514)  (213,520,000)  191,960,000 
Effect of straight lining 

of rental income 10 

 

(45,518,472)  (61,926,134)  (45,415,940) 
Deferred tax  

expense (income) 12 

 

32,904,609  68,752,809  (36,636,015) 
Accretion of interest 

relating to lease liability 9 

 

411,551  434,898  144,324 

        
Distributable income   557,298,255  497,751,119  249,281,445 

 
The REIT has adopted a dividend policy in accordance with the provisions of the 
REIT Act, pursuant to which the REIT’s shareholders may be entitled to receive at 
least 90% of the REIT’s annual distributable income.  The REIT intends to declare 
and pay out dividends of at least 90% of distributable income on a quarterly basis 
each year. 
 
For purposes of tax reporting, the REIT claimed distributable income declared as 
dividend as deduction against its taxable income as allowed per Rule 10 of the REIT 
Act (see Note 12). 
 
 

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

Basic and diluted earnings per share amounts were computed as follows: 
 

(Amounts in PHP)   
2024 

(One Year)  
2023 

(One Year)  
2022 

(Ten Months) 

        
Net profit for the period   656,012,081  704,009,546  139,229,076 
Divided by weighted number of 

outstanding common shares 
  
3,288,669,000  3,288,669,000  2,302,069,800 

        
Basic and diluted 

earnings per share 
  

0.20  0.21  0.06 

 
The REIT has no potential dilutive common shares as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
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16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

16.1 Operating Lease Commitments – REIT as a Lessor 
 
The lease agreements of the REIT with SIPCOR and CAMPCOR require monthly 
rentals equivalent to the higher of a guaranteed base lease or a percentage ranging 
from 0.50% to 26.90% of the lessee’s annual revenue (see Notes 6, 7 and 10).  In 
2024 and 2023, rentals based on the guaranteed base lease are higher than the rentals 
calculated based on the variables rates except for the rental income from Candanay 
Property and Lazi Property (see Note 10).  The rental income from such properties is 
determined based on 26.59% and 8.41% of the revenue derived from the lease, 
respectively. The amounts recognized as rental income from such properties are 
shown below. 
  

(Amounts in PHP)   2024  2023 

      
Candanay Property   247,306,487  207,956,866 
Lazi Property   78,219,163  65,773,495 

      
   325,525,650  273,730,361 

 
The future minimum lease receivable under the REIT’s lease agreements (see Notes 7 
and 9) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 are shown below.   

 
(Amounts in PHP)   2024  2023 

      
Within 1 year   608,848,418  608,848,418 
1 to 2 years   608,848,418  608,848,418 
2 to 3 years   608,848,418  608,848,418 
3 to 4 years   608,848,418  608,848,418 
4 to 5 years   608,848,418  608,848,418 
More than 5 years   993,297,303  1,602,145,715 

      
   4,037,539,393  4,646,387,805 

 
The REIT is subject to risk incidental to the operation of its investment properties 
and property and equipment, which include, among others, changes in market rental 
rates and inability to collect rent from tenants due to bankruptcy or insolvency of 
tenants.  All of the REIT’s lease agreements are from related parties.  If the expected 
growth does not meet management’s expectations, the REIT may not be able to 
collect rent or collect at profitable rates.  Management, however, deemed that the  
risk of non-collection is insignificant given the REIT and its tenants are related parties 
under common control and hence can direct payments and collections between these 
parties (see Note 13).  
 
16.2 Others 
 
There are other commitments and contingent liabilities that may arise in the normal 
course of the REIT’s operations, which are not reflected in the financial statements.   
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, management is of the opinion that losses, if any, 
from these commitments and contingencies will not have material effects on the 
REIT’s financial statements. 
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17. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
 
The REIT is exposed to a variety of financial risks in relation to its financial 
instruments. The REIT’s financial asset and financial liability by category is disclosed  
in Note 18.  The main types of risks are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.   
 

The REIT’s risk management is coordinated with its parent company, in close 
coordination with the BOD, and focuses on actively securing the REIT’s short to 
medium-term cash flows by minimizing the exposure to financial risks.  The REIT 
does not engage in trading of financial assets for speculative purposes.  The relevant 
financial risks to which the REIT is exposed are discussed below and in the 
succeeding page. 
 
17.1 Market Risk 

 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the REIT is exposed to market risk through  
its cash in bank, which is subject to changes in market interest rates.  However, 
management believes that the related interest rate risk exposure is not significant. 
 
17.2 Credit Risk  

 
The REIT’s credit risk is attributable to cash in banks and trade receivables.  The 
REIT maintains defined credit policies and continuously monitors defaults of 
counterparties, identified either individually or by group, and incorporate this 
information into its credit risk controls.  Where available at a reasonable cost, 
external credit ratings and/or reports on counterparties are obtained and used.  The 
REIT’s policy is to deal only with creditworthy counterparties. 
 
The maximum credit risk exposure of financial assets as at December 31, 2024 and 
2023 is the carrying amount of the financial assets as shown in the statements of 
financial position (or in the detailed analysis provided in the notes to financial 
statements), as summarized below. 
 

(Amounts in PHP) Notes  2024  2023 

      

Cash 4  891,662  51,889,838 

Trade receivables 5  889,500,954  1,051,325,057 

      
   890,392,616  1,103,214,895 

      

(a) Cash 
 

The maximum credit risk exposure of financial asset is the carrying amount of 
the financial asset as shown in the statement of financial position which relates 
to cash in bank.  The credit risk for cash in bank is considered negligible since 
the counterparty is a reputable bank with high quality external credit rating.  
Cash in bank are insured by the Philippine Deposit Insurance Corporation up 
to a maximum of P1.0 million for every depositor per banking institution. 
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(b) Trade Receivables 
 

Management determines possible impairment based on the related parties’  
ability to repay the receivables upon demand at the reporting date taking into 
consideration historical defaults of the related parties.  Management assessed that 
the outstanding balances from related parties as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 
is recoverable since the related parties have the capacity to pay the balances upon 
demand and there were no historical defaults.  Hence, the losses are deemed 
negligible. 

 
17.3 Liquidity Risk  
 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the REIT’s maximum liquidity risk is the 
carrying amounts of trade and other payables, due to related parties and lease 
liabilities (see Note 9). 
 
As of December 31, the REIT’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities which 
are presented below. 

 
   Within 6 months 

(Amounts in PHP) Notes  2024  2023 

      
Trade and other payables 8  51,820,313  91,949,737 
Due to related parties 13  322,655,398  509,891,645 

      
   374,475,711  601,841,382 

 
The contractual maturity reflects the gross cash flows and the carrying value of the 
liability at the end of the reporting periods.  
 
 

18. CATEGORIES, FAIR VALUES AND OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL 
ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 

18.1 Carrying Amounts and Fair Value by Category 
 

The carrying values and fair values of the categories of financial assets and financial  
liabilities presented in the statements of financial position are shown below. 
 

   2024  2023 

   Carrying  Fair  Carrying  Fair 

(Amounts in PHP) Notes  Values  Values  Values  Values 

          

Financial assets          

Cash 4  891,662  891,662  51,889,838  51,889,838 

Trade receivables 5  889,500,954  889,500,954  1,051,325,057  1,051,325,057 

          
   890,392,616  890,392,616  1,103,214,895  1,103,214,895 

          

Financial liabilities          

Trade and other payables 8  51,820,313  51,820,313  91,949,737  91,949,737 

Due to related parties 13  322,655,398  322,655,398  509,891,645  509,891,645 

          
   374,475,711  374,475,711  601,841,382  601,841,382 

 
A description of the REIT’s risk management objectives and policies for financial 
instruments is provided in Note 17. 
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18.2 Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
 

The REIT has not set off financial instruments and do not have relevant offsetting 
arrangements.  Currently, all other financial assets and financial liabilities are settled 
on a gross basis; however, each party to the financial instrument (particularly related 
parties) will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of 
default of the other party through approval by both parties’ BOD and shareholders. 

 

 

19. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT AND DISCLOSURE 
 

19.1 Fair Value Hierarchy 
 

In accordance with PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, the fair value of financial assets  
and financial liabilities and non-financial assets which are measured at fair value on  
a recurring or non-recurring basis and those assets and liabilities not measured at fair 
value but for which fair value is disclosed in accordance with other relevant PFRS 
Accounting Standards, are categorized into three levels based on the significance of 
inputs used to measure the fair value.   
 
The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 

 

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that an entity can access at the measurement date; 

 

• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., 
derived from prices); and, 

 

• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 
data (unobservable inputs).  

 
The level within which the asset or liability is classified is determined based on the 
lowest level of significant input to the fair value measurement. 
 
For purposes of determining the market value at Level 1, a market is regarded  
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange,  
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices 
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. 
 
19.2 Financial Instruments Measured at Amortized Cost for Which Fair Value 

is Disclosed  
 

The REIT’s financial instruments are measured at amortized cost and hence are 
included in Level 3, except for cash, which is considered in Level 1. 
 
For financial assets and financial liabilities with fair values included in Level 1, 
management considers that the carrying amounts of those short-term financial 
instruments approximate their fair values. 
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The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities included in Level 3, 
which are not traded in an active market, are determined based on the expected  
cash flows of the underlying net asset or liability based on the instruments where  
the significant inputs required to determine the fair value of such instruments are  
not based on observable market data. 

 

19.3 Fair Value Measurement of Non-financial Assets  
 
The REIT’s investment properties and property and equipment amounting to  
P7.9 billion and P1.0 billion as of December 31, 2024, respectively, and P7.8 billion 
and P0.9 billion as of December 31, 2023, respectively, are classified under Level 3  
of the fair value measurements hierarchy.   
 
The fair values of the REIT’s investment properties (see Note 7) and property and 
equipment (see Note 6) are determined on the basis of the appraisals performed  
by Asian Appraisal Company, Inc., an independent appraiser, with appropriate 
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of similar properties. 
 
In estimating the fair value of these properties, management takes into account  
the market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the assets  
in their highest and best use.  Based on management assessment, the best use of  
the REIT’s investment properties and property and equipment are their current use.   
The appraisers used a discount rate of 8.39% in 2024 and 8.42% in 2023, and growth 
rate of 3.50% in 2024 and 2023 to value the REIT’s investment properties. 
 

Fair value as determined by independent appraisers are based on the income 
approach.  Under income approach, the fair value of an asset is measured by 
calculating the present value of its economic benefits by discounting expected  
cash flows at a rate of return that compensates the risks associated with the  
particular investment.   
 
The most common approach in valuing future economic benefits of a projected 
income stream is the discounted cash flows model.  This valuation process of this 
model consists of the following: (a) estimation of the revenues generated; (b) 
estimation of the costs expenses related to the operations of the development;  
(c) estimation of an appropriate discount rate; and (d) discounting process using  
an appropriate discount rate to arrive at an indicative fair value.  There has been no 
change in the valuation techniques used by the REIT during the period.  Also, there 
were no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value hierarchy. 
 
 

20. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

 

The REIT’s capital management objectives are to ensure the REIT’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. 
 
The REIT sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing 
structure, i.e., equity and liabilities.  The REIT manages the capital structure and 
makes adjustment to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets.  The REIT’s total liabilities and total equity 
during the reporting periods are presented in the succeeding page. 
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(Amounts in PHP)   2024 2023 

      
Total liabilities   580,036,452 767,200,466
Total equity     9,241,308,673  9,097,943,481

      
Debt-to-equity ratio   0.06:1.00 0.08:1.00

 

The REIT sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing structure, 
i.e., equity and financial liabilities.  The REIT manages the capital structure and 
makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets. 
 
Under REIT Act, the REIT is subject to external capital requirement to have a 
minimum paid-up capital of P300.0 million which was complied with as of the 
reporting periods presented. 

 
 
21. SEGMENT REPORTING 

 

The REIT has determined that it operates as one operating segment.  The REIT’s 
only income-generating activity is the lease of its land, right-of-use asset, buildings and 
generation asset which is the measure used by the Chief Operating Decision Maker in 
allocating resources (see Notes 7 and 10). 
 
The REIT derives its rental income exclusively from SIPCOR and CAMPCOR, 
related parties under common control during the reporting periods December 31, 
2024 and 2023 (see Notes 7, 10 and 13).   
 
The disaggregation of rental income as to lessee and geographical area is also detailed 
in Note 10. 

 

22. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD 

 

On April 15, 2025, the REIT declared dividends at P0.0548 per share amounting  
to P180.2 million.  This is payable on May 21, 2025. 

 
These dividends are allowed to be claimed as a deduction to net taxable income in 
accordance with the REIT Act (see Note 12). 
 
 

23. SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION ON NON-CASH FINANCING AND  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

 

Presented below and in the succeeding page are the significant non-cash transactions of 
the REIT.  
 

 In 2023, dividends amounting to P60.3 million were declared but remained unpaid 
as of December 31, 2023 and is recorded as part of Trade and Other Payables in 
the 2023 statement of financial position.  This has been paid in 2024. 

 

 In 2022, the REIT entered into a property-for-share swap transaction with 
SIPCOR and CAMPCOR.  Certain parcels of land, buildings and generation 
assets were recognized by the REIT (see Notes 6 and 7) in exchange for its 
common shares (see Note 14). 
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• For the period March 4, 2022 to December 31, 2022, the SEC and BIR registration 
and filing fees amounting to P16.6 million and DST on issuance of shares 
amounting to P32.9 million were paid by SIPCOR on behalf of the REIT (see 
Notes 13 and 14). 
 

• On May 31, 2022, the REIT recognized lease liability amounting to P6.6 million  
(see Note 9).  The related right-of-use asset was also recognized as part of 
Investment Properties (see Note 7). 
 

• On December 15, 2022, the REIT listed its common shares in the PSE.  The 
proceeds from secondary offering amounting to P2.3 billion, net of P94.7 million 
initial offering expenses, were received by SIPCOR and CAMPCOR (Sponsors 
and assigned Disbursing Entities), as indicated in the REIT’s Reinvestment Plan. 

 
 

24. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REQUIRED BY THE BUREAU OF 
INTERNAL REVENUE 

 

Presented below and in the succeeding page is the supplementary information on 
taxes, duties and license fees paid during the taxable year which is required by the 
BIR under Revenue Regulations No. 15-2010 to be disclosed as part of the notes  
to financial statements.  This supplementary information is not a required disclosure 
under PFRS Accounting Standards. 
 
(a) Output Value-added Tax (VAT) 

 
In 2024, the REIT recognized output VAT amounting to P99,637,050  
from gross sales and collected rentals, which was partially applied against  
unutilized input VAT [see Note 24(b)].  The net output VAT payable as  
of December 31, 2024 amounting to P7,711,583 is presented as VAT payable  
under Trade and Other Payables in the 2024 statement of financial position. 
 
The tax base for taxable revenues is based on the REIT’s gross sales and 
collection for the year; hence, such may not be the same as the revenues 
reported in the 2024 statement of comprehensive income.  
 
The REIT recognized a deferred output VAT amounting to P78,925,758  
from uncollected rental billings which formed part of Trade and Other Payables 
presented in the 2024 statement of financial position. 

 
(b) Input VAT 

 
The REIT did not have any transaction in 2024 which is subject to input VAT. 
 

(c) Taxes on Importation 
 

The REIT did not have any transactions which were subject to custom duties 
and tariff fees in 2024. 
 

(d) Excise Tax 
 

The REIT did not have any transaction in 2024 which is subject to excise tax. 
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(e) Documentary Stamp Tax (DST) 
 

The REIT did not have any transaction in 2024 which has been subjected to 
DST. 
 

(f) Taxes and Licenses 
 

The details of taxes and licenses are broken down below. 
 

(Amounts in PHP)  
  
Real property taxes 7,189,595 
Municipal licenses and permits 2,430,898 

  
 9,620,493 

 
The amounts of taxes and licenses are presented as part of Cost of Rentals and 
Other Operating Expenses in the 2024 statement of comprehensive income. 
 

(g) Withholding Taxes 
 

The REIT paid expanded withholding tax amounting to P91,080 and reported 
the unpaid portion amounting to P9,560 as of December 31, 2024 as part of 
Other payables under Trade and Other Payables in the 2024 statement of 
financial position.  No expenses were incurred in 2024 which are subject to final 
withholding tax and withholding tax on compensation. 
 

(h) Deficiency Tax Assessment and Tax Cases 
 

The REIT did not settle any tax assessments nor does it have any tax cases 
outstanding or pending in courts or bodies outside of the BIR in any of the 
open taxable periods. 
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Report of Independent Auditors 

to Accompany Supplementary  

Information Required by the  

Securities and Exchange Commission  

Filed Separately from the  

Basic Financial Statements 
 
 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 

Premiere Island Power REIT Corporation 

(A Subsidiary of S.I. P0wer Corp.) 

4th Starmall IT Hub CV Starr Ave. 

Philamlife Pamplona Dos Las Piñas 

Las Piñas City 

 
 

We have audited, in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the financial statements 

of Premiere Island Power REIT Corporation (the REIT) for the year ended December 31, 2024 

and have issued our report thereon dated April 15, 2025.  Our audits were made for the 

purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole.  The 

applicable supplementary information (see List of Supplementary Information) is presented for 

purposes of additional analysis in compliance with the requirements of the Revised Securities 

Regulation Code Rule 68 and is not a required part of the basic financial statements prepared 

in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS Accounting Standards).  

Such supplementary information is the responsibility of the REIT’s management.  The 

supplementary information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits 

of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in 

relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 

 
 

      PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO 
 
 
 
 
 

 By: Renan A. Piamonte 

  Partner 
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  TIN 221-843-037 
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PREMIERE ISLAND POWER REIT CORPORATION

List of Supplementary Information

December 31, 2024

Others Required Information

(A Subsidiary of S.I. P0wer Corp.)



 

Name and designation of debtor
Balance at 

Beginning of year
Additions Amounts collected

Amounts written 

off
Current Not current

Balance at end of 

year

  

S.I. P0wer Corporation  595,220,457             430,261,098  P         451,957,841             -    430,261,098  P         -    573,523,714  P        

Camotes Island Power Generation Corporation  456,104,600             348,821,330             488,948,690             -    348,821,330             -    315,977,240            

 1,051,325,057          779,082,428            940,906,531             -    779,082,428  P        -    889,500,954           

Note:  These are presented as part of receivables account in the statements of financial position.

 

Deductions Ending Balance

Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties 

and Principal Stockholders (Other than Related Parties)

- 1 -

PREMIERE ISLAND POWER REIT CORPORATION

Schedule B

December 31, 2024

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

(A Subsidiary of S.I. P0wer Corp.)

P

P P

P

P

P

P

P PP



Name of Related Party
Balance at 

Beginning of Period

Balance at End of 

Period

Parent Company – 

S.I. P0wer Corporation  119,063,879             179,677,144P             

Related party under common ownership – 

Camotes Island Power Generation Corporation  390,827,766             142,978,254               

Total indebtedness to related parties  509,891,645             322,655,398P            

- 2 -

PREMIERE ISLAND POWER REIT CORPORATION

Schedule E

Indebtedness to Related Parties

December 31, 2024

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

(A Subsidiary of S.I. P0wer Corp.)

P

P



Related Parties
Directors, Officers 

and Employees
Others

Common 7,500,000,000 3,288,669,000  -   1,680,433,993          870,007                   1,607,365,000          
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PREMIERE ISLAND POWER REIT CORPORATION

Number of Shares Held By

Capital Stock

December 31, 2024

Schedule G

Title of Issue
Number of Shares 

Authorized

Number of Shares 

Issued and 

Outstanding as 

Shown Under the 

Related Statement 

of Financial 

Postion Caption

Number of Shares 

Reserved for 

Options, Warrants, 

Coversion and 

Other Rights

(A Subsidiary of S.I. P0wer Corp.)



Unappropriated Retained Earnings at Beginning of Year  256,252,194  P       

Effect of restatements or prior-period adjustments  -   

Others  -    -   

Less: 

Dividend declaration during the year 576,503,676 )(           

Effect of restatements or prior-period adjustments  -   

Transfer depreciation to retained earnings 4,938,660 )(               581,442,336 )(           

Unappropriated Retained Earnings, as adjusted 325,190,142 )(           

Add: Net Income for the Current Year  656,012,081            

Less: 

Equity in net income of associate/joint venture, net of dividends declared  -   

 -   

 -   

Unrealized fair value gain of investment property 86,511,514 )(             

Unrealized income from straight-lining of rentals 45,518,472 )(             132,029,986 )(           

Add:

 -   

 -   

Realized fair value gain of investment property  -   

 -   

Sub-total  -   

Add:

 -   

 -   

Reversal of previously recorded fair value gain of investment property  -   

 -   

Sub-total  -   

Adjusted Net Income/Loss  198,791,953            

Add: 

Depreciation on revaluation increment  4,938,660                

Accretion of interest on lease liability  411,551                   

Sub-total  5,350,211                

Add/

Amortization of the effect of reporting relief  -   

Total amount of reporting relief granted during the year  -   

Others  -   

Sub-total  -   

Less: 

 -   

102,888 )(                  

 -   

Adjustment due to deviation from PFRS/GAAP - gain (loss)  -   

Others  -   

Sub-total 102,888 )(                  

Unappropriated Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Distribution at End of Year  204,039,276  P       

Net movement in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liabilities related to same transaction, 

e.g., set up of right-of-use of asset and lease liability, set-up of asset and asset retirement 

obligation, and set-up of service concession asset and concession payable

Unrealized income recognized in the profit or loss during the year (net of tax)

Less: Category E: Adjustments related to relief granted by the SEC and BSP 

Other items that should be excluded from the determination of the amount of 

available for dividends distribution

Net movement of treasury shares (except for reacquisition of redeemable shares)

Net movement of deferred tax asset not considered in the reconciling items under the 

previous categories

Reversal of previously recorded fair value adjustment (mark-to-market gains) of financial 

instrument at FVTPL

Reversal of other unrealized gains or adjustments to the retained earnings as a result of 

certain transactions accounted for under the PFRS, previously recorded (describe nature)

Non-actual lossess recognized in profit or loss during the reporting period (net of 

tax)

Unrealized foreign exchange gain, except those attributable to cash and cash equivalents

Unrealized fair value adjustment (mark-to-market gains) of financial instruments at fair value 

through profit or loss

Category C.2: Unrealized income recognized in the profit or loss in prior reporting 

periods but realized in the current reporting period (net of tax)

Realized foreign exchange gain, except those attributable to cash and cash equivalents

Realized fair value adjustment (mark-to-market gains) of financial instruments at FVTPL

Other realized gains or adjustments to the retained earnings as a result of certain 

transactions accounted for under the PFRS (describe nature)

Category C.3: Unrealized income recognized in profit or loss in prior periods but 

reversed in the current reporting period (net of tax)

Reversal of previously recorded foreign exchange gain, except those attributable to cash and 

cash equivalents
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PREMIERE ISLAND POWER REIT CORPORATION

(A Subsidiary of S.I. P0wer Corp.)
4th Starmall IT Hub CV Starr Ave.

Items that are directly debited to Unappropriated Retained Earnings

Philamlife Pamplona Dos Las Piñas, Las Piñas City

December 31, 2024

Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration
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Map Showing the Relationship Between the REIT and its Related Entities

December 31, 2024

PREMIERE ISLAND POWER REIT CORPORATION

(A Subsidiary of S.I. P0wer Corp.)

PRIME ASSET VENTURES, INC.

STREAMTECH

SYSTEMS 

25.4%

25.7%

PRIMEWATER 

INFRASTRUCTURE 

S.I P0WER 

CORPORATION

PAVI GREEN 

RENEWABLE ENERGY 
PAV REALTY INC. ALLEASY, INC.

100% 100% 80% 100% 100% 100%

CAMOTES ISLAND 

POWER GENERATION 

PREMIERE ISLAND 

POWER REIT 

94%

KRATOS RES, INC.

100%



Ratio

Current ratio Total Current Assets divided by Total 2.05 1.63
Current Liabilities

Total Current Assets  945,405,125 P            1,146,173,947 P        
Divide by: Total Current Liabilities  461,729,783               702,675,511              
Current ratio  2.05                           1.63                          

Acid test ratio Quick assets (Total Current Assets less 1.93 1.57
Inventories and Other Current Assets)
divided by Total Current Liabilities

Total Current Assets  945,405,125 P            1,146,173,947 P        
Less: Other Current Assets  55,012,509                 42,959,052                
Quick Assets  890,392,616               1,103,214,895            
Divide by: Total Current Liabilities  461,729,783               702,675,511              
Acid test ratio  1.93                           1.57                          

Solvency ratio Total Liabilities divided by Total Assets 0.06 0.08

Total Liabilities  580,036,452 P            767,200,466 P           
Divide by: Total Assets  9,821,345,125             9,865,143,947            
Solvency ratio  0.06                           0.08                          

Debt-to-equity Total Liabilities divided by Total Equity 0.06 0.08
ratio

Total Liabilities  580,036,452 P            767,200,466 P           
Divide by: Total Equity  9,241,308,673             9,097,943,481            
Debt-to-equity ratio  0.06                           0.08                          

Assets-to- Total Assets divided by Total Equity 1.06 1.08
equity ratio

Total Assets  9,821,345,125 P         9,865,143,947 P        
Divide by: Total Equity  9,241,308,673             9,097,943,481            
Assets-to-equity ratio  1.06                           1.08                          

Return on Net Profit divided by Total Equity 0.07 0.08
equity

Net Profit  656,012,081 P            704,009,546 P           
Divide by: Total Equity  9,241,308,673             9,097,943,481            
Return on equity  0.07                           0.08                          

Return on Net Profit divided by Total Assets 0.07 0.07
assets

Net Profit  656,012,081 P            704,009,546 P           
Divide by: Total Assets  9,821,345,125             9,865,143,947            
Return on assets  0.07                           0.07                          

Book value Total Equity divided by Outstanding Shares 2.81 2.77
per share

Total Equity  9,241,308,673 P         9,097,943,481 P        
Divide by: Outstanding

Shares  3,288,669,000            3,288,669,000            
Book value per share  2.81                           2.77                          

Earnings per Net Profit divided by Weighted Average Outstanding 0.20 0.21
share Shares

Net Profit  656,012,081 P            704,009,546 P           
Divide by: Weighted Average

Outstanding Shares  3,288,669,000            3,288,669,000            
Earnings per share  0.20                           0.21                          
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PREMIERE ISLAND POWER REIT CORPORATION

Supplemental Schedule of Financial Soundness Indicators

December 31, 2024

Formula 2024 2023

(A Subsidiary of S.I. P0wer Corp.)



2024 2023

Total Audit Fees  425,000  P                           400,000  P                            

Non-audit service fees:

Other assurance service -                                       -                                        

Tax service -                                       -                                        

All other service -                                       -                                        

Total Non-Audit Fees -                                       -                                        

Total Audit and Non-audit Fees  425,000  P                           400,000  P                            

PREMIERE ISLAND POWER REIT CORPORATION

Supplementary Schedule of External Auditor Fee-Related Information

For the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

(A Subsidiary of S.I. P0wer Corp.)
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Sustainability Report 

 
 

Contextual Information 
Company Details  
Name of Organization PREMIERE ISLAND POWER REIT CORPORATION 

 
Location of Headquarters 4TH STARMALL IT HUB CV STARR AVE PHILAMLIFE PAMPLONA 

DOS 
 

Location of Operations 
 

Philippines 

Report Boundary: Legal entities 
(e.g. subsidiaries) included in this 
report 

PREIT and its Lessees 

Business Model, including Primary 
Activities, Brands, Products, and 
Services 

Engaged in the long-term investment in income-generating real 
estate and infrastructure assets, including sustainable power 
generation facilities, as a real estate investment trust under the 
provisions of Republic Act No. 9856, otherwise known as "The 
Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) Act of 2009" and its 
Implementing Rules and Regulations. 
 

Reporting Period 
 

January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024 

Highest Ranking Person 
responsible for this report 

Cecile Bernardo  
Chief Finance Officer 

 
  

Ana Lea Ngujo
Typewritten text
Exhibit "2"
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Materiality Process 
 

Explain how you applied the materiality principle (or the materiality process) in identifying your 
material topics.1  
 
Premiere Island Power REIT Corporation (PREIT or the Company) is devoted to transparency, and 
reporting sustainability in alignment with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) standards. PREIT applies 
the principle of materiality to identify and report topics that hold importance and relevance to the 
company and its associated stakeholders. 
 

Stakeholders Identification  PREIT's main stakeholders comprise shareholders, investors, 
customers, employees, local communities, governmental 
entities, and regulatory agencies. Engaging these stakeholders 
enables PREIT to acquire insights into the issues that hold the 
highest significance to them and guides the process of identifying 
material subjects. 
 

Materiality Assessment: Internal Examination: This involves analyzing our corporate 
strategy, business model, prevailing policies, and performance 
metrics. 
 
External Engagement: This process entails stakeholder 
engagement, feedback incorporation, and analysis of industry 
trends and benchmarks. 
 
Materiality Matrix: We create a matrix to visually represent the 
relevance of each topic based on its impact and adherence to GRI 
guidelines. 
 

Identified Material Topics: The main topics identified include Renewable Energy and Social 
and Missionary Generation and Infrastructure, Social and 
Community Impact, Financial Performance, and Dividend Yield. 
 

Reporting and Review We maintain transparency by reporting material topics in our 
sustainability reports, and we routinely reevaluate and update 
our materiality assessment to reflect evolving stakeholder 
expectations and industry trends. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 See GRI 102-46 (2016) for more guidance. 

https://www.globalreporting.org/standards/media/1037/gri-102-general-disclosures-2016.pdf#page=34
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ECONOMIC 
 
Economic Performance 
 
Direct Economic Value Generated and Distributed 

Disclosure Amount Units 
Direct economic value generated (revenue) 1,970,458,988 PhP 
Direct economic value distributed:   

a. Operating costs 1,042,291,478 PhP 
b. Employee wages and benefits  15,457,735 PhP 
c. Payments to suppliers, other operating costs 34,639,856 Php 
d. Dividends given to stockholders and interest payments to 

loan providers 
471,595,135 PhP 

e. Taxes given to government 30,571,633 PhP 
f. Investments to community (e.g. donations, CSR) 870,013 PhP 

 
 
 

PREIT and its Lessees Strategic Management Approach on Economic Performance 
 
PREIT, a prominent real estate investment trust (REIT) with a focus on power and infrastructure, 
has exemplified remarkable resilience and expansive operational capabilities, navigating through 
the tumultuous challenges posed by the pandemic. Despite the adversities, the company has 
steadfastly safeguarded the interests of its key stakeholders. 

One of PREIT's notable achievements has been its ability to deliver consistent financial success, 
thereby ensuring satisfaction among shareholders and investors. Moreover, the company has 
demonstrated its commitment to fostering positive relationships with lessees and maintaining 
superior property conditions.  By prioritizing the stability, growth, and fair compensation of its 
employees, PREIT has further solidified its standing as a responsible corporate entity. 

In addition to its internal operations, PREIT has played a pivotal role in bolstering local economies 
by generating employment opportunities and stimulating economic activity within the 
communities where its properties are located. 

At the heart of PREIT's management philosophy lie three fundamental principles: effective 
property management, meticulous market analysis, and rigorous financial discipline.  

By embracing a holistic and forward-thinking approach to business, PREIT not only ensures its 
own growth and sustainability but also fosters the economic prosperity of its diverse 
stakeholders. Through its unwavering commitment to excellence and adaptability, PREIT 
continues to chart a course of resilience and prosperity in the ever-evolving landscape of retail 
real estate. 
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Climate-related risks and opportunities 
 
PREIT has implemented robust risk management protocols, which encompass meticulous 
assessments of potential risks and the formulation of resilience strategies. These measures are 
aimed at safeguarding the company's assets and operations against various physical risks, 
including extreme weather events, rising sea levels, and shifts in precipitation patterns. 
Moreover, PREIT remains acutely attuned to transition risks associated with the transition to a 
low-carbon economy, which encompass regulatory changes, technological advancements, and 
shifts in market dynamics. 

To address these challenges, PREIT is committed to adapting its strategies to ensure sustained 
competitiveness and capitalize on emerging opportunities. The company recognizes that climate 
change presents both risks and opportunities within the real estate sector. As such, PREIT actively 
explores energy-efficient initiatives, promotes the adoption of renewable energy sources, and 
invests in properties that align with its climate-related objectives. By embracing these initiatives, 
PREIT not only contributes to the transition towards a low-carbon economy but also generates 
long-term value for its stakeholders. 

In line with the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures 
(TCFD), PREIT has developed strategies to effectively manage climate impacts, navigate the 
evolving business landscape, and enhance the company's resilience and sustainability. By 
adhering to these guidelines, PREIT demonstrates its commitment to addressing climate-related 
risks and opportunities in a proactive and responsible manner. 
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Procurement Practices 
 
Proportion of spending on local suppliers  
 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Percentage of procurement budget used for significant locations 
of operations that is spent on local suppliers: 
  
PREIT LESSEES: 
Camotes Island Power Generation Corporation (CAMPCOR) 
S.I. P0wer Corporation (SIPCOR) 
 

 
 
 
 

98 
96 

% 

 
 

PREIT and its Lessees Strategic Management Approach on Procurement Practices 
 
PREIT, along with its lessees SIPCOR and CAMPCOR, adopts a strategic and conscientious 
approach to procurement, placing a strong emphasis on ethical practices, sustainability, and 
compliance. The process begins with thorough due diligence on potential suppliers, evaluating 
their capabilities and their commitment to upholding social and environmental standards. 
Priority is given to responsible sourcing practices, with sustainability criteria playing a central role 
in supplier selection. 

Recognizing the importance of managing procurement risks, PREIT and its lessees are vigilant in 
identifying and mitigating potential threats while also recognizing the opportunities that 
procurement presents. By integrating sustainability considerations into the procurement 
process, the company not only reduces its environmental footprint but also promotes social 
responsibility within its supply chain. 

A noteworthy aspect of PREIT's procurement strategy is its dedication to supporting local 
suppliers especially for its consumables. A significant portion of the procurement budget is 
allocated to sourcing from local businesses, thereby contributing to economic growth and 
community development. This commitment not only strengthens relationships with local 
stakeholders but also fosters a sense of partnership and shared prosperity. 

In summary, PREIT and its lessees prioritize ethical, sustainable, and compliant procurement 
practices, conducting thorough due diligence on suppliers and actively managing procurement 
risks. By embracing responsible sourcing and supporting local suppliers, the company 
demonstrates its commitment to sustainability, social responsibility, and community 
engagement. 
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Anti-corruption 
 
Training on Anti-corruption Policies and Procedures*  
 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Percentage of employees to whom the organization’s anti-corruption 
policies and procedures have been communicated to 
 

100 % 

Percentage of business partners to whom the organization’s anti-
corruption policies and procedures have been communicated to 
 

100 % 

Percentage of directors and management that have received anti-
corruption training 
 

100 % 

Percentage of employees that have received anti-corruption training 
 

100 % 

*The Company and the Lessees adopt the Anti-Corruption Policies and Procedures of its parent company, 
Prime Asset Ventures, Inc. (PAVI), as it applies to the entire PAVI group.  
 
Incidents of Corruption  

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Number of incidents in which directors were removed or 
disciplined for corruption  
 

0 # 

Number of incidents in which employees were dismissed or 
disciplined for corruption 
 

0 # 

Number of incidents when contracts with business partners 
were terminated due to incidents of corruption 
 

0 # 

 
 

PREIT and its Lessees Strategic Management Approach on Anti-Corruption Practices 
 
PREIT and its lessees have embraced a strategic management approach to combat corruption 
and champion anti-corruption practices. Central to this strategy are values of transparency, 
integrity, and ethical conduct, which permeate all facets of business operations.  At the core of 
this commitment lies the implementation of a comprehensive Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption 
Policy, which serves as a guiding framework for ethical behavior. 

To ensure the effectiveness of their anti-corruption measures, PREIT and its lessees undertake 
rigorous risk assessments and maintain robust internal controls. Thorough due diligence 
procedures are conducted to vet potential partners and suppliers, mitigating the risk of engaging 
with entities involved in corrupt practices. 
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Recognizing that awareness and education are essential components of any anti-corruption 
strategy, PREIT and its lessees places a strong emphasis on mentorship, employee training, and 
awareness programs. Furthermore, stakeholders are encouraged to report suspected acts of 
corruption through a confidential reporting mechanism, with assurances that whistleblowers will 
be protected from retaliation. 

By promoting anti-corruption efforts, PREIT and its lessees not only uphold their commitment to 
ethical business practices but also contribute to the development of a resilient and responsible 
business environment. Through their strategic management approach, they aim to foster a 
corruption-free business environment that encourages fair competition and sustainable 
development, ultimately contributing to the greater good of society. 
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ENVIRONMENT 
 
Resource Management 
 
Energy consumption within the organization:  
 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Energy consumption (renewable sources) - GJ 
Energy consumption (gasoline) - GJ 
Energy consumption (LPG) - GJ 
Energy consumption (diesel) 2,286,642 Liters 
Energy consumption (electricity) 5,660,476 kWh 

 
Reduction of energy consumption 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Energy reduction (gasoline) - GJ 
Energy reduction (LPG) - GJ 
Energy reduction (diesel) On the process of implementing 

Solar Rooftop for renewable 
energy. 

GJ 

Energy reduction (electricity) On the process of implementing 
Solar Rooftop for renewable 

energy. 

kWh 

 
 
 

PREIT and its Lessees Strategic Management Approach on Energy Consumption 
 
Underlining our steadfast commitment to sustainability, PREIT is actively spearheading initiatives 
aimed at curbing energy consumption across all aspects of our operations. While our 
sustainability journey is in its nascent stages, we have already pinpointed energy reduction as a 
critical priority. Implementing strategic programs, such as setting ambitious energy reduction 
targets, deploying energy-efficient technologies, conducting routine energy audits, and exploring 
investments in hybrid renewable energy and social and missionary electrification, underscores 
our dedication to minimizing our environmental footprint. 

This initiative acknowledges the profound impact of energy usage on various stakeholders and 
the environment, from carbon emissions to resource depletion. Despite the inherent challenges, 
including escalating energy costs and regulatory hurdles, PREIT perceives this energy 
management approach as an opportunity to enhance operational efficiency, diminish 
environmental impact, and demonstrate environmental leadership. In collaboration with our 
lessees, SIPCOR and CAMPCOR, we are collectively steering towards more sustainable practices. 
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A significant milestone in our sustainability journey is the implementation of rooftop solar energy 
systems, which represent a tangible step towards renewable energy adoption and environmental 
stewardship. The solar installations, owned and operated by SI Power Corporation and Camotes 
Island Power Generation Corporation in the Philippines, exemplify our unwavering commitment 
to sustainable development. 

SI Power Corporation's Candanay Plant in Candanay Sur, Siquijor Islands, serves as a beacon of 
sustainability with its rooftop solar setup.  With a capacity of 42kWdc / 36kWac and covering an 
area of 197m2, this installation substantially reduces reliance on non-renewable energy sources 
and slashes carbon emissions by 33.91 tons, equivalent to the environmental benefits of planting 
59 trees. 

Similarly, Camotes Island Power Generation Corporation will oversee the operation of two 
rooftop solar plants on Camotes Island, Cebu. The Pilar Plant, with a 25kWdc / 20kWac system 
spanning 115m2, mitigates emissions by 18.46 tons (equivalent to planting 32 trees), while the 
Poro Plant, boasting a capacity of 56kWdc / 50kWac over 262m2, reduces emissions by 43 tons 
(comparable to planting 75 trees). 

These pioneering solar installations signify a paradigm shift towards renewable energy adoption 
and represent a collective effort to combat climate change and foster sustainable development. 
By offsetting carbon emissions akin to the ecological benefits of tree planting, these solar 
installations contribute to a greener, more resilient future. Moreover, their strategic distribution 
across islands promotes resilience and self-sufficiency within local communities. 

The collaborative efforts between PAVI Green Renewable Energy Inc., SI Power Corporation, and 
Camotes Island Power Generation Corporation underscore our unwavering commitment to 
sustainability and environmental stewardship. Through the deployment of rooftop solar systems, 
PREIT is at the forefront of clean energy adoption and natural resource preservation, paving the 
way for a greener, more sustainable future in the Philippines. 
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Water consumption within the organization 
 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Water withdrawal 7,080 Cubic meters 
Water consumption  1,800 Cubic meters 
Water recycled and reused 90 Cubic meters 

 
 

PREIT and its Lessees Strategic Management Approach on Water Consumption 
 
PREIT and its lessees have implemented proactive measures to reduce water usage, reflecting 
our steadfast commitment to minimizing impacts on employees, customers, local communities, 
and the environment.  By establishing water-efficient policies and practices, the company aims 
to mitigate risks associated with water scarcity while safeguarding its reputation. 

Key initiatives include setting ambitious water reduction targets, leveraging advanced 
technologies to optimize water usage, and advocating for broader water conservation efforts. 
These strategic measures underscore PREIT's proactive approach to addressing environmental 
challenges and demonstrate its commitment to responsible corporate citizenship. 

In addition to mitigating environmental impact, PREIT recognizes the potential for cost savings 
and brand enhancement through diligent water stewardship.  By embracing sustainable water 
management practices, the company not only reduces operational expenses but also enhances 
its reputation as a socially and environmentally responsible organization. 

Overall, PREIT's comprehensive approach to water stewardship reflects its commitment to 
sustainability and responsible business practices. By prioritizing water conservation, the 
company contributes to the preservation of natural resources while advancing its broader 
sustainability goals. 
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Materials used by the organization 
 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Materials used by weight or volume   

• renewable 0 kg/liters 
• non-renewable 0 kg/liters 

Percentage of recycled input materials used to manufacture the 
organization’s primary products and services 

0 % 

  
 

PREIT and its Lessees Strategic Management Approach on Materials Used 
 
The industry faces various risks, including resource scarcity and regulatory compliance, which 
could significantly affect suppliers and local communities. In response, PREIT prioritizes key 
opportunities aimed at mitigating these risks, such as sourcing sustainable materials whenever 
possible, minimizing waste generation, and enhancing operational efficiency. By embracing these 
initiatives, PREIT endeavors to safeguard the interests of all stakeholders, with a particular 
emphasis on investors, customers, and local communities. 

Central to PREIT's approach to materials management is the pursuit of practical and feasible 
decisions that align with industry standards, while simultaneously upholding principles of 
sustainability and efficiency. By integrating these considerations into their operations, PREIT not 
only reduces risks associated with resource scarcity and regulatory compliance but also enhances 
its overall resilience and reputation as a responsible corporate entity. This approach underscores 
PREIT's commitment to balancing economic objectives with environmental and social 
considerations, thereby contributing to long-term sustainability and stakeholder value. 
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Ecosystems and biodiversity (whether in upland/watershed or coastal/marine) 
 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Operational sites owned, leased, managed in, or adjacent to, 
protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value outside 
protected areas 

None  

Habitats protected or restored None ha 
IUCN2 Red List species and national conservation list species with 
habitats in areas affected by operations 

0  

 
 

PREIT and its Lessees Strategic Management Approach on Ecosystems and Biodiversity 
 
PREIT and its lessees place a strong emphasis on integrating ecosystems and biodiversity 
considerations into their operations, recognizing the potential impact of their activities on local 
habitats and biodiversity. Committed to environmental stewardship, they adhere to industry 
standards to ensure that their properties do not adversely affect protected areas or habitats of 
endangered species listed on the IUCN Red List. 

In addition to complying with regulations, PREIT and its lessees implement proactive measures 
to safeguard biodiversity, such as a tree replacement strategy during site development to restore 
and protect natural habitats. These efforts align with recognized environmental practices and 
demonstrate their commitment to responsible corporate citizenship. 

Furthermore, by supporting government policies and regulations in the Philippines related to 
biodiversity conservation, PREIT and its lessees actively contribute to the preservation of 
ecosystems and biodiversity in the country. Through their collective actions, they strive to 
minimize their environmental footprint and promote sustainable development, ensuring the 
well-being of both present and future generations. 
 
 
 
  

 
2 International Union for Conservation of Nature 
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Environmental impact management 
 
Air Emissions 
 
GHG 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Direct (Scope 1) GHG Emissions None Tonnes CO2e 
Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG Emissions None Tonnes CO2e 
Emissions of ozone-depleting substances (ODS) None Tonnes 

 
Air pollutants 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
NOx 108,240 kg 
SOx 61,226 kg 
Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) None kg 
Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) None kg 
Hazardous air pollutants (HAPs) None kg 
Particulate matter (PM) 12,475 kg 

 
 

 
PREIT and its lessees place a high priority on reducing their environmental impact, particularly 
concerning air emissions.  As operators of power plants, we actively engage in efforts to minimize 
emissions by embracing cleaner technologies and implementing efficient operational practices. 
By adhering to industry standards and regulatory requirements in the Philippines, we abide by 
effective management and control of air pollutants such as sulfur oxides (SOx), nitrogen oxides 
(NOx), and particulate matter. 

The commitment to reducing air emissions aligns with broader goals of promoting improved air 
quality, supporting sustainable energy practices, and safeguarding public health. In the 
Philippines, conventional power generation is governed by stringent standards set forth by the 
Department of Environment and Natural Resources (DENR) and the Philippine Clean Air Act, 
which provide clear guidelines for managing emissions and ensuring environmental protection. 

By following industry standards and regulatory requirements, PREIT and its lessees contribute to 
environmental stewardship while striving to minimize environmental footprint and positively 
impact local communities. This proactive approach to reducing air emissions reflects our 
dedication to sustainable business practices and underscores the commitment to protecting the 
environment and public health in the Philippines. 
 
 

PREIT and its Lessees Management Approach on Emissions 
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Solid and Hazardous Wastes 
 
Solid Waste 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Total solid waste generated 1,920 kg 
     Reusable 1,152 kg 
     Recyclable 768 kg 
     Composted None kg 
     Incinerated None kg 
     Residuals/Landfilled None kg 

 
Hazardous Waste 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Total weight of hazardous waste generated 252,000 kg 
Total weight of hazardous waste transported 0 kg 

 
 
 
Effluents 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Total volume of water discharges 24 Cubic meters 
Percent of wastewater recycled 5 % 

 
 
Solid Waste 
 

PREIT and its Lessees Management Approach on Waste Management and Effluents 
 
In the process of power generation, solid and hazardous waste production is an unavoidable 
consequence. The company implements robust waste management strategies to handle, store, 
and dispose of such waste responsibly. Our policies focus on minimizing waste production, 
recycling where possible, and ensuring safe disposal to mitigate environmental risks and protect 
local biodiversity. 
 
The generation of effluents from our operations is managed under a comprehensive effluent 
management system. The approach is designed to treat and dispose of effluents responsibly, 
adhering to environmental standards and regulations. By implementing strategies such as 
wastewater treatment and monitoring discharge quality, we aim to protect water bodies from 
pollution and maintain the health of aquatic ecosystems. This commitment also plays a vital role 
in our broader goal of supporting sustainable development. 
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Environmental compliance 
 
Non-compliance with Environmental Laws and Regulations 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Total amount of monetary fines for non-compliance with 
environmental laws and/or regulations 

None PhP 

No. of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with 
environmental laws and/or regulations 

None # 

No. of cases resolved through dispute resolution mechanism None # 
 
PREIT and its lessees have diligently acquired all requisite approvals and permits from pertinent 
government agencies and regulatory bodies, essential for the seamless execution of the 
organization's operations. These authorizations were obtained promptly and remain in active 
status. Each operational plant under PREIT's jurisdiction operates in strict compliance with 
environmental regulations, with a designated Pollution Control Officer (PCO) overseeing 
processes and addressing any environmental concerns that may arise. This steadfast 
commitment ensures that we uphold our dedication to environmental stewardship, in alignment 
with our overarching goal of promoting clean, renewable, and sustainable energy practices. 
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SOCIAL 
 
Employee Management (as it applies to PREIT and its Lessees) 
Employee Hiring and Benefits 
 
Employee data 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Total number of employees3 17  

a. Number of female employees 5 # 
b. Number of male employees 12 # 

Attrition rate4 29% rate 
Ratio of lowest paid employee against minimum wage  N/A ratio 

  
Employee benefits 

List of Benefits Y/N % of female employees 
who availed for the 

year 

% of male employees 
who availed for the 

year 
SSS Y 100% 100% 
PhilHealth Y 100% 100% 
Pag-ibig Y 100% 100% 
Parental leaves Y 0 0 
Vacation leaves Y 100% 100% 
Sick leaves Y 100% 100% 
Medical benefits (aside from 
PhilHealth)) 

Y 100% 100% 

Housing assistance (aside from Pag-
ibig) 

N   

Retirement fund (aside from SSS) Y 0 0 
Further education support N   
Company stock options N   
Telecommuting N   
Flexible-working Hours Y 100% 100% 
(Others)    

 
 
PREIT and its lessees hold its workforce in high regard and are committed to providing fair 
compensation and benefits in strict accordance with labor laws in the Philippines. We take pride 
in offering comprehensive and rewarding employee benefits tailored to enhance the well-being 
and satisfaction of our team members.  Our commitment to supporting the holistic needs of our 

 
3 Employees are individuals who are in an employment relationship with the organization, according to national law or its application (GRI 
Standards 2016 Glossary) 
4 Attrition are = (no. of new hires – no. of turnover)/(average of total no. of employees of previous year and total no. of employees of current 
year) 

https://www.globalreporting.org/standards/media/1035/gri-standards-glossary-2016.pdf
https://www.globalreporting.org/standards/media/1035/gri-standards-glossary-2016.pdf
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employees is reflected in a range of initiatives, from robust health insurance packages to ample 
opportunities for professional development. 

In addition to these essential benefits, we offer unique perks designed to foster a supportive and 
inclusive work environment.  Flexible scheduling options, wellness programs, and generous 
vacation allowances are just a few examples of the ways in which we prioritize the overall 
wellness and work-life balance of our employees. 

While we recognize the value of in-person collaboration and team synergy, we understand that 
full remote work may not currently align with our operational structure. Nevertheless, our 
unwavering commitment to providing exceptional benefits underscores our dedication to 
cultivating a thriving workforce that is empowered to succeed and grow within our organization. 
 
 
 
Employee Training and Development 
 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Total training hours provided to employees 193  

a. Female employees 81 hours 
b. Male employees 112 hours 

Average training hours provided to employees   
a. Female employees 7.36 hours/employee 
b. Male employees 11.2 hours/employee 

 
PREIT and its lessees have made a concerted effort to prioritize the inclusion and development 
of female workers within the workplace. An encouraging trend has been observed, with a notable 
increase in the training hours of female workers compared to the previous year. However, it's 
important to note that this emphasis on female development does not exclude male workers 
from participating in learning programs. Targeted learning sessions have been extended to male 
employees as well, ensuring an inclusive approach to employee development. 

Overall, this year's data reflects a significant increase in the average number of learning hours 
per employee, demonstrating our unwavering commitment to the continuous development of 
our workforce. Our dedication to delivering relevant and meaningful learning sessions 
underscores our commitment to fostering a culture of growth and opportunity within our 
organization, benefiting all employees, regardless of gender. 
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Labor-Management Relations 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
% of employees covered with Collective Bargaining 
Agreements 

0 % 

Number of consultations conducted with employees 
concerning employee-related policies  

0 # 

 
Diversity and Equal Opportunity 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
% of female workers in the workforce  29 % 
% of male workers in the workforce  71 % 
Number of employees from indigenous communities and/or 
vulnerable sector*  

1 # 

*Vulnerable sector includes, elderly, persons with disabilities, vulnerable women, refugees, migrants, 
internally displaced persons, people living with HIV and other diseases, solo parents, and the poor or the 
base of the pyramid (BOP; Class D and E).  
 
PREIT and its Lessees, fairness in manpower diversity and employee benefits is not just a 
commitment but a cornerstone of our culture. We believe that diversity in our workforce 
enriches our perspectives and strengthens our capabilities.  From gender and ethnicity to 
background and abilities, we foster an inclusive environment where everyone's unique 
contributions are valued and celebrated.  
 
 
 
Workplace Conditions, Labor Standards, and Human Rights 
 
Occupational Health and Safety 
 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
Safe Man-Hours 155,280 Man-hours 
No. of work-related injuries 0 # 
No. of work-related fatalities 0 # 
No. of work-related ill-health 0 # 
No. of safety drills 0 # 

 
Labor Laws and Human Rights    

Disclosure Quantity Units 
No. of legal actions or employee grievances involving forced 
or child labor 

0 # 

 
 

Topic Y/N If Yes, cite reference in the company policy 
Forced labor N  
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Child labor N  
Human Rights N  

 
We strictly adhere to the regulations outlined by the Department of Labor Employment’s (DOLE), 
ensuring a safe, secure, and equitable work environment. Respect for human rights forms the 
basis of our operations, with every employee treated fairly, irrespective of their contractual 
terms. 
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Supply Chain Management 
 
Please see attached policy: Attached Annex A. 
 

Topic Y/N If Yes, cite reference in the supplier policy 
Environmental performance Y Section V, SUBSECTION B 

 
Forced labor Y Section VI. ACCREDITATION CANCELATION OR REVOCATION in 

accordance with Republic Act No. 9208 or the Anti-Trafficking 
in Persons Act of 2003 
 

Child labor Y Section VI. ACCREDITATION CANCELATION OR REVOCATION in 
accordance with Republic Act No. 9231 or the Special 
Protection of Children Against Child Abuse, Exploitation and 
Discrimination Act and Republic Act No. 7610 or the Special 
Protection of Children Against Abuse, Exploitation and 
Discrimination Act 
 

Human rights Y Section VI. ACCREDITATION CANCELATION OR REVOCATION in 
accordance with Republic Act No. 9851 or the Philippine Act on 
Crimes Against International Humanitarian Law, Genocide, and 
Other Crimes Against Humanity 
 

Bribery and corruption Y Section VI. ACCREDITATION CANCELATION OR REVOCATION in 
accordance with Republic Act No. 6713 or the Code of Conduct 
and Ethical Standards for Public Officials and Employees 

 
PREIT and its Lessees place a strong emphasis on robust supply chain management practices to 
uphold operational continuity and mitigate risks effectively. Central to our approach is the 
promotion of transparency, fair labor practices, and environmental sustainability throughout the 
supply chain. We achieve this by adhering to ethical procurement practices and maintaining a 
diversified supplier base. Regular assessments and active engagement with suppliers drive 
continuous improvement and ensure compliance with our standards. 

In terms of supplier accreditation, PREIT has implemented a comprehensive policy that 
encompasses various sustainability aspects. These include environmental performance, social 
responsibility, and adherence to ethical standards. By integrating these criteria into our 
accreditation process, we aim to guarantee that our supply chain operates in alignment with 
industry best practices and ethical principles. This commitment underscores our dedication to 
fostering a responsible and sustainable business ecosystem. 
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Relationship with Community 
 
Significant Impacts on Local Communities 

Operations 
with significant 

(positive or 
negative) 

impacts on 
local 

communities 
(exclude CSR 
projects; this 

has to be 
business 

operations) 

Location Vulnerable 
groups (if 

applicable)* 

Does the 
particular 
operation 

have 
impacts on 
indigenous 

people 
(Y/N)? 

Collective or 
individual 
rights that 
have been 

identified that 
or particular 

concern for the 
community 

Mitigating 
measures (if 
negative) or 

enhancement 
measures (if 

positive) 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
*Vulnerable sector includes children and youth, elderly, persons with disabilities, vulnerable women, 
refugees, migrants, internally displaced persons, people living with HIV and other diseases, solo parents, 
and the poor or the base of the pyramid (BOP; Class D and E) 
 
 

Certificates Quantity Units 
FPIC process is still undergoing N/A # 
CP secured N/A # 

 
PREIT and its Lessees actively prioritize building strong relationships with local communities and 
driving environmental and social endeavors through our Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) 
initiatives. 
 
Some notable programs conducted for the year include tree planting activities in collaboration 
with the LGU, the Philippine Coast Guards, and Municipal DENR; and participating in the 
Philippine Red Cross training on Occupational First Aid and Basic Life Support Training. An 
opportunity to educate our young minds from the Maria Integrated School and Tambisan 
National High School in Siquijor was also organized. To support local employment, we welcomed 
new hires to add to our pool of talented individuals. We also took part in various community 
initiatives like town fiestas and celebrations through donations to show our support for local 
traditions (Please refer to Annex B for CSR photos). 
 
We ensured continuous funding to host communities of the one centavo per kilowatt-hour 
(P0.01/kWh) share in the electricity produced by the power plants in operation. This is in 
accordance with the Department of Energy’s (DOE) Energy Regulations No. 1-94 (ER 1-94). The 
host beneficiaries can invest in projects that empower individuals and support inclusive growth. 
These initiatives include electrification projects, development and livelihood programs, as well as 
environmental sustainability efforts like reforestation and watershed management.  
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PREIT and its Lessees are committed to the betterment of communities in driving community 
development and nurturing camaraderie between generation companies and host communities.  
Through our CSR initiatives, we aim to create opportunities for economic empowerment, 
environmental preservation, and improved well-being. By leveraging these resources and 
fostering partnerships, we work towards sustainable progress and prosperity in the communities 
we serve. 
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Customer Management 
 
Customer Satisfaction 

Disclosure Score Did a third party conduct 
the customer satisfaction 

study (Y/N)? 
Customer satisfaction N/A  

 
Health and Safety 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
No. of substantiated complaints on product or service health and safety* 0 # 
No. of complaints addressed 0 # 

*Substantiated complaints include complaints from customers that went through the organization’s 
formal communication channels and grievance mechanisms as well as complaints that were lodged to and 
acted upon by government agencies. 
 
Marketing and labelling 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
No. of substantiated complaints on marketing and labelling* 0 # 
No. of complaints addressed 0 # 

*Substantiated complaints include complaints from customers that went through the organization’s 
formal communication channels and grievance mechanisms as well as complaints that were lodged to and 
acted upon by government agencies. 
 
Customer privacy 

Disclosure Quantity Units 
No. of substantiated complaints on customer privacy* 0 # 
No. of complaints addressed 0 # 
No. of customers, users and account holders whose information is used for 
secondary purposes 

0 # 

*Substantiated complaints include complaints from customers that went through the organization’s 
formal communication channels and grievance mechanisms as well as complaints that were lodged to and 
acted upon by government agencies. 
 
Data Security  

Disclosure Quantity Units 
No. of data breaches, including leaks, thefts and losses of data 0 # 

 
At PREIT, our customer management approach revolves around prioritizing health, safety, and 
customer satisfaction above all else. We maintain a steadfast commitment to adhering to 
regulations and industry standards, ensuring that our customers experience a high standard of 
well-being and welfare whenever they engage with us. 

In addition to prioritizing physical well-being, we place a strong emphasis on safeguarding our 
customers' privacy and data security. We are dedicated to implementing and upholding robust 
data security measures to protect our customers' sensitive information. Our policies and 
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procedures are designed to align with both local and international privacy laws, thereby fostering 
trust and ensuring confidentiality in all our interactions with customers. By prioritizing health, 
safety, and data security, we aim to provide our customers with a seamless and secure 
experience that exceeds their expectations. 
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UN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS 
 
Product or Service Contribution to UN SDGs 
 
Key products and services and its contribution to sustainable development. 
 

Key Products and 
Services 

Societal Value / 
Contribution to UN 
SDGs 

Potential Negative 
Impact of 
Contribution 

Management 
Approach to Negative 
Impact 

 
Real Estate 
 

 
SDG 6: Clean Water and 
Sanitation 
PREIT supports clean 
water preservation by 
reducing pollution from 
fossil fuels through its 
commitment to 
renewable energy and 
social and missionary 
electrification. 
 
SDG 9: Industry, 
Innovation and 
Infrastructure 
 PREIT fosters industry 
innovation and resilient 
infrastructure 
development through 
its long-term 
investments in the 
renewable energy and 
social and missionary 
electrification sector. 
 
SDG 11: Sustainable 
Cities and Communities 
PREIT's commitment to 
renewable energy and 
social and missionary 
electrification 
contributes to creating 
sustainable cities, 

 
As they incorporate 
established 
management policies 
and systems aimed at 
addressing potential 
issues, these 
initiatives are not 
anticipated to result 
in adverse 
consequences. 

 
Risk-management 
programs are 
supervised and 
executed to efficiently 
identify, address, and 
mitigate risks. 
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improving air quality, 
and reducing 
environmental impact. 

 
 
PREIT and its lessees are wholeheartedly committed to aligning their operations with the United 
Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), recognizing the crucial role of sustainability in 
driving both financial growth and environmental and social responsibility. As a reputable Real 
Estate Investment Trust (REIT) with a focus on power and infrastructure, PREIT is dedicated to 
setting the standard for sustainable practices within the industry. 

Central to PREIT's sustainability efforts is the proactive implementation of environmentally-
responsible business practices aimed at minimizing resource consumption, reducing emissions, 
and preserving ecological integrity. By embracing sustainable practices, PREIT not only mitigates 
its environmental footprint but also sets a positive example for its peers and stakeholders. 

In addition to environmental stewardship, PREIT prioritizes inclusive growth and community 
support, acknowledging its social obligations. Through initiatives that promote local economic 
development, support community well-being, and prioritize stakeholder engagement, PREIT 
seeks to create lasting positive impacts that extend beyond financial returns. 

By integrating sustainability into its core operations and embracing its role as a responsible 
corporate citizen, PREIT exemplifies its commitment to driving meaningful change and 
contributing to a more sustainable future for all. 
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Annex “A” 
 

CONTRACTOR/VENDOR’S ACCREDITATION POLICY 
 

COVERAGE: 
 
I. Introduction 
II. Accreditation Process  
III. Documentary Requirements 
IV. Accreditation Committee 
V. Review and Evaluation Process 
VI. Accreditation, Cancellation or Revocation 
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I. Introduction 
 
The purpose of this Accreditation is to ensure that the evaluation is fair and unbiased. Only those 
accredited contractors who complied with the accreditation process outlined herein are allowed to join 
in the project bidding. Nevertheless, being accredited does not automatically mean a Contractor will be 
awarded a contract for the project. The contractors shall still go through a competitive bidding process. 
This is applicable to all new and existing contractors.  
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II. Accreditation Process 
 
1. Procurement in-charge shall send the PDF copy of the Accreditation Form via email to all 
 potential contractors. 
 
2. The potential contractors shall submit the duly accomplished application forms, together with 
 the required documents to Procurement in-charge (Note: See Section III. Documentary  
 Requirements for the list of requirements) 
 
3. The accomplished application form, together with the required documents, shall be forwarded 
 to the Accreditation Committee  (See Section IV. Accreditation Committee) 
 
4. The Accreditation Commitee will review the application for accreditation and supporting  
 documents for the contractor’s technical, financial capability as well as the authenticity of the 
 supporting documents. 
 
5. The Procurement in-charge shall prepare the Accreditation Certificate to be signed by the 
 Contract Management Head and Business Unit Head. 
 
6. The decision on the accreditation application will be communicated by the Procurement Team 
 to the accredited contractor/s. 
 
7. Accredited contractors shall be invited to participate in the in the Company’s bidding process. 
 
8. The list of qualified contractors will be used by the Accreditation Committee for the Review and 
 Evaluation Process (See Section V). 
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III. Documentary Requirements 
 
A. For Local Vendors/ Contractors: 
 
1. Letter of Intent addressed to Procurement 
2. Company Profile 
3. SEC Certificate of Incorporation and Articles of Incorporation / DTI Certificate of Registration 
4. Audited Financial Statements from the last two (2) years 
5. Income Tax Return for the last two (2) years 
6. Mayor’s Permit 
7. BIR Certificate of Registration 
8. Organizational Chart 
9. Office / Warehouse / Factory Location Map  
10. Proof of SSS quarterly remittance for the last quarter 
11. List of Equipment and Manpower 
12. Secretary’s Certificate (if corporation) / Special Power of Authority (if sole proprietor) for the 
 authorized signatories, together with their valid ID 
 
*Additional Requirements for Procurements of Goods: 
 
1. Product brochures/catalogue 
2. Product samples 
3. Certificate of exclusivity (if applicable) 
 
*Additional Requirements for Contractors 
 
1. PCAB License 
2. Resume of Key Personnel to be assigned to the project 
3. Pictures of projects (completed & ongoing) 
4. Environment, health, and safety requirements certificates 
 
B. For Foreign Vendors: 
 
1. Letter of Intent addressed to Procurement  
2. Company Profile  
3. Certificate of Incorporation/equivalent 
4. Audited Financial Statements for the last two (2) years 
5. Business Permit 
6. Organizational Chart 
7. Headquarters and/or warehouse location map 
8. Product brochure/catalogue/datasheets 
9. List of customers/clients in the Philippines 
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IV. THE ACCREDITATION COMMITTEE 
 
A. Functions 
 
The Accreditation Committee shall verify, evaluate, review, and analyze the capability of Contractors 
based on technical, financial, reputation, performane, and commercial capabilities.  
 
The Accreditation Committee is committed to fielding reputable contractors, and encourages its 
prospective contractors to achieve accredited status.  
 
B. Members 
 
The members of the Accreditation Committee shall be the following: 
 

a) Accounting Head/Chief Accountant 
b) Procurement Head 
c) Proponent/End User’s Representative 
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V. REVIEW AND EVALUATION PROCESS 
 
1. Compliance with Documentary Requirements 
 
The Accreditation Committee shall determine whether the contractor complies with the  documents in 
Section III. Only contractors with complete documents shall be considered for evaluation and comparison. 
 
2. Review of Documents and Evaluation of Contractor’s Capacity 
 
The Accreditation Committee shall review and evaluate the following: 
 

a) Authenticity of documents; 
b) Financial capability; 
c) Technical capability; 
d) Performance based on previous completed and on-going projects  
- Authenticity of documents  
- Financial capability 
- Technical capability 
- Performance based on previous completed and ongoing projects (this will include getting 

feedback from previous / existing clients) 
- Track record in complying with relevant environmental laws and/or issuances of the Department 

of Environment and Natural Resources, Local Government Unit, etc. (The Accreditation 
Committee may require the applicant to submit additional documents for this purpose.) 

 
3. Categorization 
 
The Accreditation Committee shall categorize the applicant based on the following qualifications: 
 

a) Owner Supplied Materials (“OSM”) 
b) Contract Amount – maximum contract amount to be awarded 
c) Work specialty/expertise - for multi-specialty contractors 
d) Volume of projects – number of projects that can be awarded 
e) Internal contractor ratings – PCAB reference 

 
4. Updating of Information and Submission of Additional Documents 
 
In case any information provided changes or is modified after accreditation, the Contractor must 
update such information and submit corresponding documents to update the information. 
 
5. Accreditation 
 
Contractor’s Accreditation is valid for 12 months only subject to renewal upon submission of updated 
documents. Likewise, the results of the Performance Evaluation for previous contracts form as basis of 
the renewal of accreditation. 
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VI. CANCELLATION OR REVOCATION OF ACCREDITATION 
 
A contractor’s accreditation may be cancelled or revoked on the basis of the following grounds: 
 

a) The Company finds that the contractor and/or his duly authorized representative has falsified 
documents in support of the application for accreditation; 
 

b) The contractor has filed for bankruptcy or dissolution; 
 

c) The contractor or any of its responsible officers is found guilty by the proper courts for violating 
Section 11(c) of Republic Act No. 6713, otherwise known as the “Code of Conduct and Ethical 
Standards for Public Officials and Employees”;  
 

d) The contractor or any of its responsible officers is found guilty by the proper courts for violating 
Republic Act No. 9208, otherwise known as the “Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2023” and 
Republic Act No. 7610, otherwise known as the “Special Protection of Children Against Child 
Abuse, Exploitation and Discrimination Act", as amended by Republic Act No. 9231, and Republic 
Act No. 9851, otherwise known as the “Philippine Act on Crimes Against International 
Humanitarian Law, Genocide, and Other Crimes Against Humanity"; 
 

e)  The Company has reasonable belief that the contractor or any of its responsible officers is 
undertaking fraudulent activities; and 
 

f) The commission by the contractor or any of its responsible officers of any act which casts doubt 
on its/their eligibility to undertake the project, should the same be awarded to them.  
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Annex “B” 
 

CSR PHOTOS 
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